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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the
“Company”), | presented to you the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$64.0 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$18.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The Group recorded an increase
in loss of approximately HK$45.2 million attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such
increase was mainly attributable to an increase in loss arising in
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$43.1 million.

PROSPECTS

2021 was an extremely challenging year for the Company, after
experiencing a heavy sell-off in the second half of the year, a lot
of our investment did not recover as expected. With the Federal
Reserve expected to end the quantitative easing program, and
start hiking rates to combat inflation, the Board believes such
contraction of the Fed’s balance sheet will negatively impact
the market; furthermore, Russia/Ukraine conflict weighed on
sentiment, reviving worries about the widening differences
between the United States and China.

Since the outlook remains uncertain, the Company will remain
focused on finding and purchasing strong companies that are
trading at an attractive value, and the Company will increase its
cash position and reinvest when it finds suitable.

The Company also believes the world ahead will be built on
Generation Z who are born after the computer era, therefore,
the Company will continue to invest in Web3 platforms that are
able to provide holistic solutions and cater to people’s needs in
the digital era.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude and appreciation to business partners, external
professionals, fellow Directors, employees and our
shareholders.

Mung Kin Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$64.0 million, compared to a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$18.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The Group recorded an increase
in loss of approximately HK$45.2 million attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such
increase was mainly attributable to an increase in loss arising in
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$43.1 million.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS

Set out below are the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions of the Group:

Our investments will normally be made in listed and
unlisted companies;

i.  The Group had made investments with a short to long
term perspective with the objective of making capital gain
as well as income from dividend or interests. Over the
years, the Group invested in listed and unlisted securities,
bonds, direct investments, projects, properties and
structured products. Investments are also made in special
or recovery situations;

ii.  There is no restriction on the proportion of the Company’s
assets which may be invested in any specific sector or
company save for the restriction that the Company will
not make an investment in any company which represents
more than 20% of the consolidated net assets of the
Company at the time such investment is made;

iv. ~ The Company will not either on its own or in conjunction
with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and that
in any event the investment company will not own or
control more than 30% (or such other percentage as may
from time to time be specified in The Hong Kong Code on
Takeovers and Mergers as being the level for triggering
a mandatory general offer) of the voting rights in any one
company or body; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

v.  The Directors do not intend to seek bank borrowings until
substantially all the Company’s funds have been invested
and that the Company borrows, the Directors do not
intend to borrow amounts representing in aggregate more
than the consolidated net assets of the Company at the
time the borrowing is made.

INVESTMENT REVIEW

As at 31 December 2021, the major investments of the Group
were (i) approximately HK$193,292,000 of a portfolio of listed
financial instruments; (i) approximately HK$37,005,000 of
direct investment in unlisted financial instruments; and (iii)
approximately HK$8,521,000 of direct investment in unlisted
investment funds. The investment portfolio of the Group mainly
comprises equity and debt securities mainly in Hong Kong and
the United States of America.

The Group has invested in startup companies, and some of
the startup companies have shown very promising results. We
would like to review one of our startup investments, Oddup Inc.
(“Oddup”). Oddup was founded in 2015, and its main product
is to give ratings and a curated view on the potential success
of a startup. With the unique proposition, they are able to fill the
gap for rating startups for individual and professional investors
who are looking at investing in a startup.

Dividend from listed equity investments during the year ended
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$5,953,000.
Interest income from debt securities during the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$585,000.

The details of all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments
at 31 December 2021 are respectively set out in note 33 to
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

RERERE)

Market value/
fair value as
compared to

the consolidated

Realised gain/

Unrealised gain/

Number of total asset of (loss) for the (loss) for the
shares held the Group at year ended year ended
at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Name of investments Notes 2021 2021 2021 2021
BA5E Bz Bz
R=B=-%f ZB-F ZB-F
T=A T=A T=A
RZB=-F =t+-A2 =t+-H =t+-H
TR LRBEE LFEZ LEEZ
=t-H 22 BER RER
RELR (i3 BERGEA e/ AYE Wi/ (F8) b/ (58
'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
& % FHEL FHEL
Listed equityin HongKong ~ BEELHTRAREHRE %S
Alibaba Group Holding Limited ~ MEEE&EERERAF ) 229 10.9 14 (23.978)
Ausnutria Dairy Corporation Ltd.  BEAERNERAA (il 750 2.8 = (1,196)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited
hRREBREARAA (i) 270,088 313 - 48,886
Frontier Services Group Limited £ 2RBEEER A (iv) 9,684 2.4 = @)
Huayi Tencent Entertainment ~ EEENREER A
Company Limited (v) 38,500 33 10,212 (7,791)
Logan Group Company Limited ~ EX£EER A (vi) 956 2.3 194 (5,485)
Tencent Holdings Limited EAERBRAR (vl 34 6.2 (227) (2,066)
Times China Holdings Limited ~ BFR A BRI AR A A (v 1,469 2.2 239 (9,462)
Unlisted equity securities AN ELTRARS
outside Hong Kong
Qddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
~ Preferred Shares - B (ix) N/A TN 8.7 - 13,063
Unlisted investment funds ~ BENMELTREES
outside Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
= Fund Series 3T SP - Fund Series 3T SP ) N/A NiE A 22 - (14,865)
10,659 (2,991)

*EHES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes:

As disclosed in Alibaba Group Holding Limited (“Alibaba”) December
Quarter 2021 Result Conference Call Transcript, looking ahead,
Alibaba aimed to further strengthen user engagement and time
spent through a greater variety of consumption use case offerings.
Alibaba wanted to enhance its influence on the consumer decision
journey, and tailored it to reflect the unique considerations of each
product category. Alibaba would shift its focus from expanding the
total number of annual active customers (“AACs”) in China to driving
deeper AAC penetration across product categories. This would
ultimately help Alibaba capture a more significant consumer wallet
share.

As disclosed in the annual result for the year ended 31 December
2021 of Ausnutria Dairy Corporation Ltd (“Ausnutria”), looking
forward to 2022, Ausnutria would continue to fight with dogged
determination, seize new development opportunities, deliver steady
growth of Ausnutria’s core business and brands, complete the
second registration of existing formulas, and secure the approval of
all key products. At the same time, Ausnutria would also diversify
Ausnutria’s mix of nutrition products and products for special
medical purposes, expand the international reach of Ausnutria’s
probiotics business, procure timely completion of R&D, production
testing and clinical trials, and obtain respective registrations and
approvals.

2022 marks the final year of the second phase of Ausnutria’s
Golden Decade development plan. Under the guidance of the
nation’s focus on high-quality development, Ausnutria would
continue to concentrate on the health business by striving for further
enhancement in innovation, production, supply, quality control,
marketing, customer service, partner support, digitalisation, smart
development, organisation, team-building, brand-building, social
responsibility and corporate development. With stronger confidence
in Ausnutria culture and broader vision into the future, Ausnutria will
spare no effort to promote Ausnutria’s reputation across the globe,
attain high-quality corporate development, deliver better results and
contribute more to the nation, the society and the people.

Besides with the continuous drops in the female population at
childbearing age and the reduced willingness to marry and bear
children, particularly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the number of newborns had been decreasing over the past few
years and as a result, the competition of formula milk powder
business had become more intense. The downward trend of birth
rate would be a key challenge to be faced by Ausnutria in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(Continued)

On a brighter note, in response to the decline in the birth rate, the
PRC Government had made changes to certain policies which
might bring positive impacts and opportunities to Ausnutria in the
upcoming years. The management considered and they concurred
that such policies might have a long-term positive contribution to the
PRC dairy industry as the demand for infant formula milk powder
would be increased with the increasing birth rate.

In view of the above, facing the new opportunities and challenges
arising from the new policies and the Pandemic, it was uncertain as
to whether Ausnutria would be able to turn the above challenges into
opportunities and grasped the opportunities to further the growth
of Ausnutria. In particular, there was no guarantee that any further
tightening of administration or implementation of more stringent
policies and standards on the infant milk formula industry in the
future would not impose possible challenges and disturbances to the
businesses and the profitability of Ausnutria.

As disclosed in the interim report 2021/2022 of Brockman Mining
Limited (“Brockman”), significant progress was made on an
infrastructure solution for the Marillana and Ophthalmia Projects with
Mineral Resources Limited (“MRL”) entering into an agreement with
Hancock Prospecting Pty Ltd (“Hancock”) and Roy Hill Holdings Pty
Ltd (“Roy Hill”) (“Rail Port Agreement”) to jointly investigate the
development of a new berth at the Port of Port Hedland’s Stanley
Point Berth 3 in South West Creek. Under the Rail Port Agreement,
Roy Hill was to provide rail haulage and port services. The Rail Port
Agreement would facilitate provision by MRL of an infrastructure
solution for the projects.

The Marillana joint operation advanced the initial development works,
which included amongst others, commencement of a Bauer drilling
programme. The drilling programme was for the purpose of obtaining
bulk samples to support pilot plant test-work and provide samples of
tailings to support co-disposal (dry-stacking) testwork. The testwork
would also support process review and flow sheet design. An
application for a miscellaneous licence designed to connect Marillana
to the Roy Hill railway was submitted in December 2021 by MRL.

On 8 December 2021, Brockman received natification from Polaris
that the farm-in obligations for the Ophthalmia Joint Operation have
been satisfied, and that the Ophthalmia Joint Operation was now
operational.

Continuous advancement of the Marillana and Ophthalmia Projects
overarching studies, approvals, construction, and production.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

iv.

As disclosed in the final results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2021 of Frontier Services Group Limited (“Frontier”),
COVID-19 related uncertainties remained throughout 2021. During
2021, Frontier stayed focus on its core business development
including securing more sizeable security projects overseas, the
launching of an engineering, procurement and construction contract
with a government body in Laos, the successful transformation of
our Kenya based aviation arm from initially just concentrating on VIP
chartering into air ambulance and medevac operator as well as the
growth in business volume of our logistic arm in Shanghai, China.
Together with those synergies brought in through the acquisition and
the appointment of new Frontier CEO, the Frontier's commitment
and determination towards security business had become more
obvious. In the coming future, Frontier would continuously build its
security profile by making good use of the acquisition and the new
CEQ’s experience and expertise in the security industry. Winning
more sizeable projects both locally and overseas were expected
because of our solid credentials and expertise knowledge in the
security industry.

As disclosed in the interim report 2021 of Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Company Limited (“Huayi Tencent”), during
the first half of 2021, the rolling out of vaccines and a universal
vaccination campaign had gradually suppressed the pandemic and
the worldwide film industry had hence shown signs of recovery.
Looking ahead to the second half of 2021 and 2022, the road
to full recovery would be smoother when the worldwide theatres
and film production projects resume complete normalcy and
relevant favorable measures to the industry were implemented by
governments. With the successive completion of film projects which
Huayi Tencent had financed and produced, it was expected that a
number of films would be screened in the second half of 2021 and
2022. By screening films across the globe via different channels
in succession, Huayi Tencent believed that they were capable of
achieving excellence and enhancing the revenue of its entertainment
and media operations.

BEENWE DM

RERERE)
Wit : (40

B LERBEEEERAR(XEB)BEE—T——
Ft-A=+T-BLFERHUEEQSAEE
B RERRSHAEZ THAPRER T - —
FHAFE -N-ZB-Z—F - TENAFTINH
RUOEBER  SENEIISHRERERNRRE
HE - HEBRAHRBIVARRIRE HKBR
BTAA  EEFEME=DAXDAZNRET
RVIPERER E=h RN RIGE & ER
AREERPE EEMRD B2 EBER Y
Ko MERBREBERRERNITRET TR
BERE  EEHRREBZAHRIROEFE
DNEAGR  fERZK - o8 S A T A b s E IR A
RFTBRERZRITENZZEBRERENE -
THELERFRERE - AR EBERRITERES
REEBEREXAD  BABEREEZEAMRE
BINREIRR o

BANEEEIRL AR AR ((HEERAD) - =——
FHHREMBERE  —T—F L¥F 20198
MESHEEEERERERERE  ZBE0ES
BEES  2RREFEDEHEREERNER -
RE-ZS-_—FTHEFER-_T__F  BEERK
RENREFEWEBEELIEE  SEBRMFCAY
EHEeERERISELEOGE  FEE—F
HEEFTEPHEEH - BEEHBMALERE
MFAEMNEBEEETRK  BitE T —F ¥
FE-Z-_—_FEEABNBEZHEXERE
B T RN c EEBAMBEYREENTRERE
REKBMBELEAEERIEES - BIREKRIFE
¥BzWEEREER -

202158 | RRABREARDA

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

Vi.

(Continued)

As for healthcare and wellness services, the long-term development
of internet healthcare had received policy support ever since the
State Council issued the document “Opinions of the General Office
of the State Council on Promoting the Development of ‘Internet plus
Health Care’” in 2018. In addition, due to the need to reduce social
contact under the shadow of the pandemic, the services rendered
by internet healthcare, online doctor consultation and pharmaceutical
and medical e-commerce had all become very important. In 2020,
the active clients of internet healthcare amounted to over 60 million
every month, and it could be said that the habit of using online
medical service had been formed and had become indispensable
in life. Huayi Tencent was aware of the potential for development
of the internet healthcare and medical service markets, and had
been actively seeking investment opportunities. The acquisition of
“Lingyi Future”, a new retail platform for prescription drugs, and the
encouragement coming from a number of policies were expected
to contribute new opportunities and revenues to Huayi Tencent. As
the pandemic was coming under control in the PRC, the business
of “Bayhood No. 9 Club” returns to normal and a continuous and
stable stream of revenue was expected due to the increasing public
demand for outdoor sports. Huayi Tencent would also continue the
preventive hygiene measures in place at the Club in order to provide
a hygienic and safe environment to the clients and ensure the Club’s
stable operation.

As disclosed in the interim report 2021 of Logan Group Company
Limited (“Logan”), the Logan would continue to strengthen and
enhance its position as “city’s comprehensive service provider”, and
insist its regional penetration strategy. The Logan had established
a comprehensive business model in the property industry chain to
meet urban residents’ demand in different aspects. Owing to its
abundant and high-quality land bank, and proven cross-regional
strategic execution, the Logan would continue to strengthen its effort
to complete its national layout in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau
Greater Bay Area, Yangtze River Delta Region metropolitan area,
southwest China and central China city-clusters. Leveraging on the
competitive advantages on differentiation of the urban redevelopment
business, Logan would be able to foster diversified revenue stream
to continue creating long-term value for its investors.

Logan had adopted a performance-linked share award scheme for
professional trust management with a validity period of 15 years,
with the total number of award shares representing up to 3% of the
Company’s total issued shares. The promulgation of the scheme
would help to attract, motivate, and retain core outstanding talents,
while consolidating the shared value mechanism co-founded by
career managers, enhanced its core competitive strength and
advance Logan’s long-term sustainability development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

Vi

Vil

viii.

(Continued)

Given the accelerating market share concentration trend in the real
estate industry, by utilizing its extensive operational experience in
the real estate industry, the Group would actively seize opportunities
of land acquisitions in the future, diversify and increase the
Logan’s premium land banks, strive to enhance the overall product
competitiveness of different projects, and incessantly strengthen its
market competitiveness and penetration, so as to become a leading
comprehensive service provider.

As disclosed in the announcement of the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 of Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”),
2021 was a challenging year, in which Tencent embraced changes
and implemented certain measures that reinforced the Company’s
long-term sustainability, but had the effect of slowing Tencent’s
revenue growth. Despite financial headwinds, Tencent continued to
make strategic headway, including driving widespread adoption of
our enterprise software and productivity tools, increasing content
creation and consumption in Tencent’s Video Accounts, and
expanding Tencent’s international games business. Tencent believed
the China Internet industry was structurally shifting to a healthier
mode characterised by a re-focus on user value, technology
innovation, and social responsibility. Tencent was proactively
adapting to the new environment by managing costs, increasing
efficiency, sharpening Tencent’s focus on key strategic areas, and
repositioning itself for sustainable long-term growth.

As disclosed in the annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2021, Times China Holdings Limited (“Times China”),
looking forward to 2022, the macroeconomic development would
face triple pressures owing to demand contraction, supply shock
and weakening expectations. The monetary policies tend to be
stable and easing while the fiscal policies tend to be more positive.

The regulatory policies for the industry were expected to be
relaxed to support reasonable housing demands. The city-specific
policies promoted the benign cycle and healthy development of
the real estate industry. Under the real estate financial prudential
management system, the financing structure of real estate
enterprises tended to be differentiated and personal mortgage loan
would be placed in a stable and orderly manner. The mortgage
interest rate was expected to decline. It was estimated that regional
market transaction would be differentiated with the markets for
metropolitan areas and the first- and second-tier cities will remain
stable, while the third- and fourth-tier cities with population net
outflow would remain lackluster. With the increasing investment in
new infrastructure and the construction of digital cities, the value of
major metropolitan areas would be more obvious.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

vii.

(Continued)

Times China aimed to lower the gearing ratio and liabilities in order to
ensure the stable development of the Company. By adhering to the
aggressive sales strategies, Times China would maintain a healthy
cash flow.

Times China would adapt to the national policies and directions
actively, and adjust the corporate operation model to a new
development model of quality and stability. The emphasis will
be put on the residential development business and the urban
redevelopment business with moderate scale and high quality of land
reserve.

Times China would continue to explore the high value region of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong- Macao Greater Bay Area, and gradually
develop regions with high potential such as the Yangtze River Delta,
the middle reach of the Yangtze River, and the Chengdu-Chongging
urban agglomeration.

In 2021, Oddup Inc. had added a series of new services, Oddup
Crypto. Oddup Crypto now manages close to US$100m of crypto
assets, and is now extending its services to other Web3 services.

Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio
Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued
in British Virgin Islands. Fund Series 3T SP is principally invested
in start-ups at the seed to series A stage in Hong Kong and
internationally.

The Directors believe that the future performance of the Hong
Kong listed equities held by the Group is largely affected by
economic factors, investor sentiment, demand and supply
balance of an investee company’s shares and fundamentals
of an investee company, such as investee company’s news,
business fundamental and development, financial performance
and prospects. Accordingly, the Directors closely monitor the
above factors, particularly the fundamentals of each investee
company in the Group’s equity portfolio, and proactively
adjust the Group’s equity portfolio mix in order to improve its
performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had (i) cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$2,371,000 (2020:
HK$2,681,000); (i) other financial liability of approximately
HK$10,000,000 (2020: HK$9,973,000); margin loan from
securities broker of approximately HK$25,276,000 (2020:
HK$28,157,000); and lease liabilities — non-convertible bond
of HK$ nil (2020: HK$2,874,000); (iii) net current assets of
approximately HK$206,816,000, as compared to approximately
HK$268,231,000 as at 31 December 2020. The gearing ratio
(borrowings/total equity) was 16.5% (2020: 14.7%), borrowings
included lease liabilities, margin loan from securities broker and
other financial liability — non-convertible bond. The current ratio
of the Group was 6.76 compared to 7.44 as at 31 December
2020.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, a portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities held under margin account with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$91,319,000 (2020: HK$148,537,000) have
been pledged to secure margin loan from securities broker in
accruals and other payables.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group had no material capital commitment and contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$ nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the investments and the business transactions of the
Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Board
believes the foreign exchange exposure is minimal.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 700,333,925
shares of HK$0.01 each in issue (2020: 700,333,925 shares).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PROSPECTS

2021 was an extremely challenging year for the Company, after
experiencing a heavy sell-off in the second half of the year, a lot
of our investment did not recover as expected. With the Federal
Reserve expected to end the quantitative easing program, and
start hiking rates to combat inflation, the Board believes such
contraction of the Fed’s balance sheet will negatively impact
the market; furthermore, Russia/Ukraine conflict weighed on
sentiment, reviving worries about the widening differences
between the United States and China.

Since the outlook remains uncertain, the Company will remain
focused on finding and purchasing strong companies that are
trading at an attractive value, and the Company will increase its
cash position and reinvest when it finds suitable.

The Company also believes the world ahead will be built on
Generation Z who are born after the computer era, therefore,
the Company will continue to invest in Web3 platforms that are
able to provide holistic solutions and cater to people’s needs in
the digital era.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions
and individual performance, qualification, experience and the
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.

There are 14 employees, including 2 executive directors and
3 independent non-executive directors as at 31 December
2021. Remuneration policies are reviewed in accordance with
the market situation and the performance of individual director
from time to time. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
employee benefits such as medical insurance and mandatory
provident fund schemes. Moreover, discretionary bonus and
share options will be paid or granted to employees based on
the Group’s and individual performances.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
(CONTINUED)

The emoluments of the directors were determined with
reference to their duties and responsibilities with the Company,
the Company’s performance, prevailing market conditions and
the market emoluments for directors of other listed companies
and reviewed by the remuneration committee.

The Group’s total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)

for the year ended 31 December 2021 under review amounted
to approximately HK$11,292,000 (2020: HK$8,657,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks Description

TERR Bt

Business risk Business risk is the risk of rapid

E changes in investment market could

impact tne Group’s performance
@E%J%Zii‘il%ziﬂzri B

Economic risk Economic risk is the risk of any
B E R downturn in economic conditions
could impact the Group’s
performance.
4 Mﬁi?‘%/ﬁiﬁﬁ AR AR
SERE AR
Liquidity risk Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
MEE e ER would not be able to meet its

financial obligations as they fall due.
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FTERBRIAEERER

Mitigating actions

R

Continuously monitor the market dynamics and
adopt a conservative approach on investment.
REZATSEERRRIRTIIRERE °

Regularly review forward looking indicators to identify
economic conditions.
TEHEMAIEEEE  BELERR

Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of financial
position.

EHERERDES KA BERRE

Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover commitments.

RREERDESRNALE -

Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing securities
listed on stock exchanges
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks

FERR

Price risk

BRRER

Exchange risk

SN B

People risk

AB R
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Description
Bt

Price risk is the risk that changes in
equity prices would affect the
Group’s income and the value of its
holdings of equities.

ERERRRAERESETE
AEBRARFREBEZ AR -

Exchange risk is the risk that changes
in foreign exchange rates would
affect the Group’s income and the
value of its holdings of assets.
SNERRREXZEB KT EREBRA
FEMBEEBE AR -

People risk is the risk of loss the
services of any Directors, senior
management and other key personnel
could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s businesses.

ABRBRENES SRER
EREMEEASHBAEY
AEEEXBELEEAIFRE
TRE% o

TERRE I EERRHE)

Mitigating actions

R

Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any
portfolio issues promptly.
THERARAAS - KEFRAMEMREAESHE -

Spread price risk exposure by investing a number of
equities.

BRREREBESMERER

Closely monitor statement of financial position and
cashflow exchange risk exposures and consider
appropriate use of financial instruments, such as
forward exchange contracts, foreign currency
options and forward rate agreements, to hedge the
exchange risk.
BURERBIAR LB REIERR NEEZ R
BECRERINESRL - INEBRE R BN KR
EW BT AL RIMNER R -

Provide competitive reward and benefit packages to
attract and retain the employees the Group needs.
REABRF N REREN - AR5 REEAEE
PR ER °

Ensure that the staff of the Group has the right
working environment to enable them to do the best
job and maximise their satisfaction at work.
BRASEEIHEFEAEIHERE  BBHEIRA
EHETKEBRIERRREITEREE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Principal risks Description

TERERE Bt

Legal and Legal and regulatory risk is the risk
regulatory that a breach of laws and regulations

risk could lead to litigation,

ERR investigations or disputes, resulting
EEER in additional costs on civil and/or

criminal proceedings and
reputational damage being incurred.
FERNEERRABILERRE
HATREBEGRL - AESAUH -
HRER SIMEFDARELE
RIBEEBINIARZ AR -

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner in our business operations and promoting
green measures towards environmental protection to our
employees. The Group adheres to the principle of recycling,
reducing and reusing. Encouraging paper recycling culture,
doubled-sided printing and copying, and encouraging energy-
saving culture by switching off idle lightings and electrical
appliance are implemented by the Group. In order to
enhance environmental sustainability, the Group will review its
environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
Group’s business operation.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group as far as the Board is aware.
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Mitigating actions

R

Monitor changes and developments in the regulatory
environment and ensure that sufficient resources
being made available to implement for any
compulsory changes.
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Seek legal or other specialist advice as appropriate.
BYRERIHMEXER(WER).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

As the Group is engaged in investment in listed and unlisted
financial instruments, there are no major customers and
suppliers during the year.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees
and other stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and
long-term goals. Although there are no major customers and
suppliers during the year the Company creates a framework for
motivating staff and a formal communication channel in order
to maintain healthy relationships with its employees and other
stakeholders.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the
financial performance and it decreased to approximately
HK$214,213,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$278,243,000). During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Group suffered from a loss of approximately
HK$64,030,000, mainly because of (i) loss arising in change
in fair value of financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss amounting to approximately HK$48,731,000; and (ii)
the administrative expenses and other operating expenses
amounting to approximately HK$20,849,000.

The net asset value per share was approximately HK$0.31,
which was calculated on the above net assets value and
700,333,925 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in issue as at 31
December 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr. Mung”), aged 61, was appointed
as an executive Director on 9 March 2007. He is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Conferment
of Honorary Doctoral Degree from Sinte Gleska University of
California. In November 2007, he was awarded the 9th World
Outstanding Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business
Investment Foundation. He has extensive experience in areas
of business management, strategic planning and development.

Mr. Mung was appointed as an executive director of Global
Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”, stock code: 8063),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 19
June 2014.

On 20 February 2019, Mr. Mung was re-appointed as an
executive director and co-chairman of the board of CWT
International Limited (“CWT”, stock code: 521), a company
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange and resigned all
positions with effect from 28 June 2019. He was appointed as
an executive director of the board of CWT on 16 February 2009
and re-designated as the vice-chairman of CWT on 10 May
2010 and 24 October 2013 respectively. He has resigned as
an executive director and the co-chairman of CWT on 3 June
2015.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in
any other listed public companies in the last three years and
does not hold any other position with the Company or other
members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEZEN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Mr. Mung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an
executive Director and the chief executive officer and a
substantial shareholder of the Company. As at the date
of this report, China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is
interested in 525,191,925 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 74.99% of the issued share capital of the
Company. China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is wholly
owned by Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”), formerly known
as Mung Chiu Yu, Alan, aged 35, was an executive Director
during the period from 12 November 2010 to 3 April 2013
and was re-appointed as an executive Director on 31 March
2014 and the chief executive officer of the Company on 9
February 2015. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business
Economics from University of California-Santa Barbara and
a Master Degree in Finance from Peking University. He
has extensive working experience in investment and asset
management.

Mr. Alan Mung was appointed as an executive director of
GMHL on 24 March 2014.

Mr. Alan Mung was re-appointed as a non-executive director
of CWT on 5 September 2017 and has resigned with effect
from 25 November 2019. He was an executive director of CWT
during the period from 24 October 2013 to 6 February 2015.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung did not hold any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last three
years and does not hold any other position with the Company
or other members of the Group.

Mr. Alan Mung is the son of Mr. Mung, an executive Director.
As at the date of this report, China Lead Investment Holdings
Limited is interested in 525,191,925 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 74.99% of the issued share capital
of the Company. China Lead Investment Holdings Limited is
wholly owned by Mr. Alan Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Alan Mung does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholder of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (“Mr. Fung”), aged 52, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 October
2014. He is presently an owner of a printing company in Hong
Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in managing paper,
packaging and printing industries in both China and Hong Kong
markets.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
GMHL on 23 June 2014.

Save as aforesaid, he did not hold any directorship in other
listed public companies in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEZEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lei Seng Fat (“Mr. Lei”), aged 71, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 18 April 2017. He
has 27 years of management experience in Macau banking
industry. Prior to his retirement in 2014, he was a consultant in
Cash Management Department of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China (Macau) Limited. He is currently the general
manager of a private company in Macau, which is engaged in
trading of furniture.

Mr. Lei was appointed as a sales director of Shane Global
Holding Inc. (Stock Code: 8482), a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, on 15 August 2018.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lei did not hold any directorships
in any other listed public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (“Mr. Poon”), aged 57, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10
October 2014. He graduated from Lingnan College (now known
as Lingnan University) with an Honours Diploma in Accountancy
and obtained his Master of Science degree in E-Commerce
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
He is currently a proprietor of a certified public accountant
practice. He had worked for various international accounting
firms, corporation and consultant company in Hong Kong. He
has working experience which covered audit and assurance,
internal controls, accounting and information technology.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon did not hold any

directorship in other listed public companies in the last three
years.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group principally invests in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities, listed derivative financial instruments and unlisted
investment funds.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial
Summary” on page 4 to page 5, page 6 to page 20 and page
188 respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part
of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December,
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 66 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

EEREEE=E T - F+_A=+—8ItHF
B2 REREEZYHBRE -
FEEK

ARBIZEBEBR/UERETRABES -

HB AR 2 EBXBEANGE M HRERNE
4o AEBETERER EMRIFLETHRAR
B5ES - EMITAMBTANMELETRER

S
i e

EROE

AEBHERE KEXRRRVBKANERE
B imkotiURBBE_S-_—F+=A
—t+—HLEFERBEZEEBHAEBEKT
BEERIEFE  DRIHNRFEAIESE - F6E
20BERF18BEZIEFEHME] - [ERET®RK
ARG BREISE - ZFARENARE
AR 2 —EB A o

EEBENRDH

AREEHZE T -—F+= E-I— AIEEE
ZEBENAREFOAZLEBR NEME
MR °

EE g8z -_—4F+-_A=+—H

IFFEREFARE(CE-_ZF - &) -

e

ARTRALD 2 RN GR A  BRH T
24 o

(]

ARARAEBFERFTFARNZEEFEBE D RIH
NE A ERRM 2T NGEEREHEK -
202158 | BRABREARAA

25



26

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities
as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December
2021 including contributed surplus amounted to approximately
HK$1,837,000 (as at 31 December 2020: HK$62,557,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws and there is no restriction against such
right under the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The term of office of each Director are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the
“Bye-laws”).

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Alan
Mung and Mr. Fung, will retire from office of Director by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM.

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Excellent Mind Investments Limited, which is owned as to 60%
to Mr. Mung Kin Keung and 40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man,
Alan, both of them are executive directors of the Company, was
a substantial shareholder of the Global Mastermind Holdings
Limited (“GMHL”) until 20 May 2021.

Hope Master Investments Limited (“Hope Master”) and
Famous Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”) were indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of GMHL.

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master and Famous Flamingo,
as landlords, entered into two tenancy agreements with the
Company, as tenant, for a term of three years with monthly rent
of HK$198,480 and HK$112,000 respectively, from 15 October
2018 to 14 October 2021. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Company paid lease payments in an aggregate
amount of HK$2,934,000 to Hope Master Hope and Famous
Flamingo (2020: HK$3,726,000).

The two tenancy agreements were expired on 14 October
2021.

On 24 September 2021, Famous Flamingo and Hope Master,
as landlords, entered into two tenancy agreements with the
Company, as tenant, for a term of one year with a monthly
rental of HK$78,400 and HK$138,936, respectively, from 15
October 2021 to 14 October 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, the two tenancy agreements
remained in full force and effect.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group paid
commission and other handling charge of approximately
HK$29,000 (31 December 2020: HK$4,000) to Global
Mastermind Securities Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the GMHL.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received

managerial and administrative service income with the amount
of HK$ nil (31 December 2020: HK$35,000) from GMHL.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required to be and were recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(CONTINUED)

Interests in shares and underlying shares of
the Company

Name of Director Capacity

ESHS )

EERFTETHRAEREQFREM
HECZE 2RO - HEROREZR
ZHERR KRR (E)

RAERB RS REER G 2 EH

Approximate

percentage

of total

issued shares

as at

Number of 31 December
shares held 2021 Note

R-FEZ-—F

+=ZA=+—H

HERITRG
FERGHE BY2HBIBIHE Bt 7E

(Note 2)

(K1zt2)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan Interest in controlled
SN E corporation

Notes:

1.

RSAE A E 2 #E st

These shares were registered in the name of and were beneficially
owned by China Lead Investment Holdings Limited (“China Lead”),
a company in which Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (“Mr. Alan Mung”),
an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company,
holds the entire issued share capital. Therefore, Mr. Alan Mung is
deemed to have an interest in the shares in which China Lead is
interested.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2021.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and
records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions
of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, or were directly or indirectly, interest in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company
or any other members of the Group were as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

BEROBES 2L

R B S EL A 0T B I 2 B A P A AT B P 45 A
BT 2 H ML E ML BUEER A
BEARR S EMEE 2 iy E5mE

Mk o

FERRRAQFRG RAERKRDZ
Bk AR

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—8 EBZ=EAR
BIEZITHABAA - RIBERE X AT 17
ZAREEE A ABRTF 2L - M TALK
FE(EBRARAEBITHRABBRINRALRD
Al ROIMEARMNPEAELALRRBIRE
BHERBEGDIEICKETE 2 B RMA
mRAE  SEESEEEENSERNTAE
AER T EARRRHAEE T EMEKE QR
ZREXRG FIRE AR R AE{ES%K A
EREmEMT

202158 | BRABREARAA

31



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS FERFERAATRGRMEBRSGZ

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND EERRE (E)
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
Long/short position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 RAEREE0.VIEBTZAATEZERZ
each of the Company KA
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
ordinary share
Number of capital of
ordinary the Company
shares of as at
Capacity/ the Company 31 December
Name of Shareholder Nature of interests held 2021
R-B=Z—F
+=ZA=+—H
HARAT D BT
g F] EiERRA
REZH 5% EntE EZEREE ZEHNBES T
(Note 2)
(H1:£2)
Ng Kwok Fai Person having a security 525,191,925 Nete 1) 74.99%
RE interest in shares (1)
IR A EIRER
At
Notes: Biat -
1. These Shares were charged by the China Lead in favour of Mr. Ng 1. ZERGITABEUNREBEE AT S AEITH
Kwok Fai. ad o
2. The percentage holding is calculated based on the issued share 2. ZERESLEDEREARATR_ZE=Z—F+=A
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2021 comprising =+—HZEBBTRA(E1E700,333,925 & ()
700,333,925 Shares. FTE
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OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors,
there is no other person who has an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares that is discloseable under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

(@ the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
future plans of the Group;

(b)  the Shareholders’ interests;

(c) the economic outlook;

(d) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
by the Company to the Shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company; and

() any other factors the Board may consider relevant.
The Board shall review the Company’s dividend policy from

time to time and may take any amendments that it deems
necessary or desirable.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received confirmation of independence from
all 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon
Wai Hoi, Percy, Mr. Fung Wai Ching and Mr. Lei Seng Fat in
accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence
of any of the independent non-executive Director has been
impaired up to the date of this report.

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH
OFFER AND PUBLIC FLOAT

References are made to (i) the announcements dated 19
March 2021, 9 April 2021, 30 April 2021 and 21 May 2021
jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company (the “Joint
Announcements”); (i) the announcement dated 26 July 2021
issued by the Company (the “Public Float Announcement”);
and (iii) the composite document dated 30 April 2021 (the
“Composite Document”) jointly issued by the Offeror and the
Company in respect of the Offer. Unless otherwise defined,
capitalised terms used herein shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Composite Document.

The Company was informed by the Offeror that on 27 January
2021, the Purchaser, who was an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company, entered into the
Sale and Purchase Agreement with the Vendor, pursuant to
which, among other things, the Vendor agreed to sell and the
Purchaser agreed to acquire, the BVI Sale Share (representing
the entire issued share capital of the Offeror) at a consideration
of HK$38,635,302.75. Immediately before the Completion, the
Offeror owned 351,230,025 Shares, representing approximately
50.15% of the total issued share capital of the Company. The
Completion took place on the same day.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2021

BUFHATES 22BN

AARBET EWRAES.10(1)  3.102) &
S.10AIEZHTE - ARRIEEHESEIBEIIE
MITEEEVEEREE BHETILEERTX
SRAE)RIE E TR A3 1365 B 2 B R

=7
e

EXeCEGRRBBUIFRNTESTNE M
TRR/EFIELETRAUNAREZBLAL -
o EEAREEY  EFSUAMAED#
EERER - BERRETE B IIFRT

EEEYMERIE -
BHEMERGREEARLARERE
ZRAM(DWEBEHABARNRQAEBE T B H
BR_E - —F= ﬂ+h5 :Ei—i
MAARHE - ZE-_—FMA="+H

_ — H

T —FARHAZ= +—EMZ&E(T%%
AED (VAR TEEHBHRE S =—F
TtAZTRBZRAE((ABERELAE] &
(NBHABERARBESTEARAE T~ —
MA=Z+THEBENZ2HFEEXH(THREX
#1) - BREEREIN  BRIAWEMAAREH
%?é??lﬂ?ﬁﬁ5?15%5§1¥§$ﬁFﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ‘

ARREEHAEHN  R_FE=_—F—A
Zt+tER BEAEARRRBMITEE RIT
BB RERILEEHE Bt (R
BIEEFREHEAEFREREBVIEE
BHENEHAZZBEEHITRE)  REA
38,635,302.758 7T - B¥TEKAT C EHAFE
351,230,025 [ {7 + AR BB BITIR A58
#950.15% ° TR NE HEE



MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH
OFFER AND PUBLIC FLOAT (CONTINUED)

Together with the Shares transferred by each of Mr. K. K. Mung
and TDX to the Offeror on 27 January 2021, the Offeror owned
509,784,025 Shares, representing approximately 72.79% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

Immediately following the Completion, the Purchaser owned
the entire issued share capital of the Offeror, which, together
with the Shares transferred by each of Mr. K. K. Mung and TDX
to the Offeror on 27 January 2021, in turn owned 509,784,025
Shares, representing approximately 72.79% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the
Takeovers Code, the Offeror was required to make mandatory
unconditional cash offer to acquire all of the Shares in the
issued share capital of the Company (other than those Shares
already owned by and/or to be acquired by the Offeror and the
Offeror Concert Party(ies)). The Offer Price was HK$0.11 per
Offer Share.

The Offer was closed on 21 May 2021. Taking into account
the valid acceptances in respect of 22,607,900 Offer Shares
under the Offer, immediately after the close of the Offer, the
Offeror and the Offeror Concert Party(ies) were interested in an
aggregate of 532,391,925 Shares, representing approximately
76.02% of the issued share capital of the Company at 21 May
2021.

As disclosed in the Composite Document, the Company is an
investment company under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to Rule 21.04 of the Listing Rules, the Company was
not required to comply with Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules
which states that there should be at least 25% of the Shares as
held in the hands of the public. Pursuant to Rule 8.08 and Rule
13.32 of the Listing Rules, there should be an open market in
the Shares and that the Company shall maintain the minimum
percentage of the Shares in public hands. Even though the
Company was not required to comply with Rule 8.08(1) of the
Listing Rules, it still intended to maintain a public float of having
at least 25% of the Shares being held in the hands of the
public.
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MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH
OFFER AND PUBLIC FLOAT (CONTINUED)

The Company was informed by the Offeror that, subsequent
to the close of the Offer and up to 26 July 2021, the Offeror
had completed disposal of an aggregate of 7,200,000 Shares,
representing approximately 1.03% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at 26 July 2021 on the open market
through the Stock Exchange (the “Disposals”). Immediately
after the completion of the Disposals, 175,142,000 Shares
were held by the public (as defined under the Listing Rules),
representing approximately 25.01% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as at 26 July 2021.

For more details in respect of the Offer and the public float
of the Company, please refer to (i) the Joint Announcements;
(i) the Public Float Announcement; and (iiij the Composite
Document in respect of the Offer.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, substantial
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business which causes or may cause competes or may cause
any significant competition with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and
administrative contracts regarding the entire or any major
businesses of the Company have been entered into or have
existed.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution mandatory provident
fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
to all staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees
are each required to make mandatory contributions to the
MPF Scheme and contributions to the MPF Scheme vested
immediately.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable
donations (2020: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no material events for disclosure subsequent to
31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (“HLB”) who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Mung Kin Keung
Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEEARE

The Company is dedicated to maintain a credible framework of
corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open
and accountable to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code
on corporate governance practices. The current practices will
be reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices
in corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code during the year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
upon specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2021. To ensure Directors’
dealings in the securities of the Company (the “Securities”)
are conducted in accordance with the Model Code, a Director
is required to notify designated executive directors in writing
and obtain a written acknowledgement from the designated
executive directors prior to any dealings the Securities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

The Board currently consists of two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors.

Composition

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The number of independent non-executive Directors is 60%
of the Board membership. One independent non-executive
Director has the appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. The names and biographical details of each
Director are disclosed on pages 21 to 24 of this annual report.
Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan.
Saved as disclosed, there is no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship)
among the Board members.

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is
managed and the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board
is required for the strategy of the Group, major acquisition
and disposal, major capital investment, dividend policy,
appointment and retirement of Directors, remuneration policy
and other major operational and financial matters. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the investment
committee (“Investment Committee”) of the Company.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance
and position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties under the Listing Rules.
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SEEARE

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management (Continued)

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses
and formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors
financial performances and discusses the annual and interim
results, as well as discusses and decides on other significant
matters.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code. The major
roles and functions of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance are;

- to develop and review the Company’s policy and
practices on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors; and

- to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance
matters for the financial year 2021:

= review of the compliance with the CG Code; and

Yy review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’

liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and
the management (Continued)

The Board held 8 scheduled Board meetings during the year
2021. Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The Company Secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting and each Director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14-day
notice of a regular Board meeting is given and the Company
aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and Board committees meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any
Directors/committee members. Details of individual attendance
of Directors are set out below:

Attendance of individual Directors at Board
meetings in 2021

Number of meetings 8
Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 8/8
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 8/8

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 8/8
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 8/8
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 8/8

The Board has established procedures to enable Directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense.
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ERERHRE

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ training and professional development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. Directors are
continually updated on the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company had received record of trainings from each
Director relating to development and refreshment of their
knowledge and skills. The participation by individual Directors
in the continuous professional development is recorded in the
table below:
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Reading materials relating to rules
and regulations and/or attending
trainings and seminars
BEEBRAIRBRGZMER,

R MTINRHANE

Executive Directors: HITES !
Mr. Mung Kin Keung SElEL
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmX it
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHITES :
Mr. Fung Wai Ching IEHEIE S
Mr. Lei Sang Fat TROELEAE
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy EEREAE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate
and are not held by the same individual exercised by different
individuals to ensure their independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the chairman of the
Company. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the chief executive
officer of the Company. The chairman provides leadership for
the Board and the direction of the Group. The chief executive
officer has overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s
business development.

During the year, the chairman of the Company met with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of

the executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration
by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will review the profiles of the candidates and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, nomination
and retirement of Directors.

According to the Bye-laws, any Directors so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filing a casual vacancy,
only until the next following general meeting of the Company
or, in the case of an addition to their number, until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company who shall
then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting. Every
Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Non-executive Directors

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) have each signed a letter of appointment
with the Company and have appointed for an initial term of one
year commencing from the date of the letter of appointment
unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter
of appointment. The term shall be automatically renewed for
consecutive term(s) of one year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its
expertise, there are three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. In addition, following the expiration of the
investment management agreement entered into between the
investment manager and the Company on 30 June 2014. On 4
August 2014, an Investment Committee has been established
to assist the Board in overseeing the Company’s investment
strategy and policies, and the establishment and working of
internal control at the operational levels and ensure compliance
with investment restrictions.
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ERERHRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms
of reference and currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired
by an independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The current members of the Audit
Committee are Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Chairman), Mr. Lei
Seng Fat and Mr. Fung Wai Ching.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

- to serve as a focal point for communication between other
Directors and the auditors in respect of the duties relating
to financial and other reporting, internal controls, audits,
and such other matters as the Board may determine from
time to time;

- to review the appointment of auditors on an annual basis
including the review of the audit scope and approval of
the audit fees;

- to review the annual and interim financial statements
prior to their approval by the Board, and recommend
application of accounting policies and changes to the
financial reporting requirements;

—  to review the auditor’'s management letters (if any) and
management’s responses; and

- to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness
of the internal controls and risk management of the Group
and the adequacy of the audits.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Set out below is the major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included, among other things, the

following:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and for the six months

ended 30 June 2021;

- to review the effectiveness of the internal controls system

and risk management; and

- to review and discuss with the external auditor over the

financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details
of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at

Audit Committee meetings in 2021

Number of meetings

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Committee Chairman)

Mr. Fung Wai Ching
Mr. Lei Seng Fat

3/3
3/3
3/3
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ERERHRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman, which meets at least
once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

- formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and
recommending to the Board the annual remuneration

policy;

- ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration; and

- to consider of the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
below:

Attendance of individual members at
Remuneration Committee meeting in 2021

Number of meetings 3

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching (Committee Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 3/3
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 3/3
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three independent non-
executive Directors and the Chairman, which meets at least
once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

- to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

- to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors;

- recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors;

- to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection;

- to review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and any measurable objectives for
implementing such Board Diversity Policy and to review
the progress on achieving the objectives; and

- where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an Independent Non-executive Director at
the general meeting, it should set out whenever elect
an individual as an independent non-executive Director
(i) the process used for identifying the individual and
why the Board believes the individual and the reasons
why it considers the individual to be independent; (i)
if the proposed independent non-executive Director
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the Board believes the individual would
still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board; (i) the
perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and (iv) how the individual contributes
to diversity of the Board in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of
the relevant general meeting.
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ERERHRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the qualification, ability,
working experience, leadership and professional ethics of the
candidates. In determining the independence of Directors, the
Board follows the requirements set out in the Listing Rules.
According to the Bye-laws, the Board has the power from time
to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
subject to the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
below:

Attendance of individual members at Nomination
Committee meeting in 2021

Number of meetings 1

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 11

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 1/1
Mr. Lei Seng Fat (Committee Chairman) 11
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 1/1
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has established the Investment Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising two executive Directors

and the financial controller of the Company.

The major roles and functions of the Investment Committee

include:

- to review, monitor, manage and control the existing

investments;

- to seek, identify, explore, evaluate and appraise potential
investments and performing those necessary due

diligence exercises; and

- to report to the Board, illustrating its work undertaken.

The Investment Committee held 12 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out

below:

Attendance of individual members at Investment

Committee meeting in 2021
Number of meetings
Executive Directors

Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan

Financial Controller of the Company
Mr. Wong Siu Hang

12

12/12
12/12

12/12
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ERERHRE

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all
employees, including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and
remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line
with market practice. No Director, or any of his associates, and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and
Senior Management

The executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly
responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board considers
that the senior management comprises the executive Directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for
the year fell within the following bands:
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objectives and principle regarding board diversity for the
benefits of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives with a
view of having a balanced diversity of both skills and experience
and of perspective. Board appointments will be based on
merit and candidates will be considered against measurable
objectives, taking into account the Company’s business and
needs.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
the contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the
Board.

The Directors will consider and review the diversity of the Board
and to set up, if appropriate, measurable objectives according
to the Company’s own business model and specific needs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The
selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary
is subject to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total fees paid/payable to HLB, the Company’s
auditors amounted to approximately HK$300,000 and
HK$62,000 respectively for audit service, and other non-audit
services provided by the auditors of the Company during the
year.
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ERERHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavors to identify risks, control impact of
the identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk
management procedures which include the policies,
procedures, monitoring and communication activities and
standard of behaviour established for safeguarding the interests
of the shareholders of the Company. The risk management and
internal control systems of the Company aim to help achieving
the Group’s business objectives, safeguarding assets and
maintaining proper accounting records for provision of reliable
financial information. However, the design of the systems is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement in the financial statements or loss of
assets and to manage, rather than eliminate, the risks of failure
when business objectives are being sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant

risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment

criteria developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Response

o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up
an internal audit function within the Group in light of the size,
nature and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided
that the Board would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness during the year.

The Group has engaged Insightnetic Consultancy Limited as
its risk management and internal control review adviser (“the
Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2021. Such review is conducted annually and the cycles to be
reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management of the Company. The Board
and Audit Committee are of the view that there are no material
internal control deficiencies noted. All recommendations from
the Adviser will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
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ERERHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting (Continued)

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact the price
of the shares or their trading volume and to decide whether
the relevant information is considered as inside information
that needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable
pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the
Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the Board believes that for the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems are effective and adequate. The
Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff
with appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting
and financial reporting team and that sufficient training and
budget have been provided.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and shall review it on a periodic basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure
its Shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include annual general meeting, annual
report, various notices, announcements and circulars. The
Company has also maintained a corporate website which
enables Shareholders, investors and the public to receive timely
and updated information on the Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The Company’s notices to Shareholders for the annual general
meeting (“2021 AGM”) of the Company held on 4 June 2021
were sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

An executive Director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and the representative of external auditor were
available at the 2021 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the 2021 AGM had explained
the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions proposed at the 2021 AGM were voted separately
by way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were
properly counted and recorded.

Attendance of individual Directors at the
Annual General Meeting in 2021
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HE=R
Executive Directors: BITES
Mr. Mung Kin Keung SE\EL v
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmXEHE v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYEHTES
Mr. Fung Wai Ching ISHEIE S A v
Mr. Lei Seng Fat TROESEAE v
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy EERLE v

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary signed and deposited in accordance with the bye-
law 58 of the Bye-laws, require a general meeting to be called
by the Directors for the transaction of any business specified in
the requisition.
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ERERHRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for requisitioning an special general
meeting and for putting forward proposals at
general meetings (Continued)

A special general meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written request, duly signed by
the Shareholder concerned, setting out the proposals at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and the Company Secretary. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the
request to the Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a
general meeting will be decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director is posted on the Company’s website at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/mastermindcap/.

Shareholders’ enquiries

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum
of communication between Shareholders and the Board.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries in writing
to the Board through the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business in Hong Kong.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2021

IR RER (&)
EREHARRBIAERRBRRAE
LREBRZEF(A)

BRFHIASRNERHREMEAREIT -
HEEFEWRANERXFRARR -+ —HARL
ABRAARE REBRZALTHETHERSE
RRERBFZEMALTIETARAS
Mt BRZ KRG A BRIERFRXEHE=@
AREmMREBIT -

HERARRBRRAEREZZR - BWRAKE
HERREARECEE AL (EHARBER)
EXERRRRNBRBZEIBREXMWE  HES
SNRARAMEWEZ - BRERARRINEEZ
BRiBPELDRZE YR REERBRE
EENRBEER BHAPWELFERLERES
T -RARELAERETREAREKHESTEN
TBRTE e

BREZREFABZEFERA QAW

www.irasia.com/listco/hk/mastermindcap/ °

RERz2EH
ARBZBRREB/BRIESTSRHEERS
BYE  BRRABKEEMNEEIBREXRM
HZABMERNESTSRHLERSH -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ enquiries (Continued)

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board, where appropriate to answer the
Shareholders’ questions.

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries
Limited, the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings, share
registration and related matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities
in preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company. The statement of the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 58 to 65.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B ZHENRE

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GLOBAL MASTERMIND
CAPITAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 66 to 187, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

R

FREETER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BREASESRBERMANEXEAE Ry
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the KB APRGEVEREZAEENSE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 18 - ZEEHERERMIBITBEEAMKHRE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the REEERSHETRE - KM T@HELEE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming RHBERENER o

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

BEESER

Fair value measurement on financial assets

BRUBEEZ 2 FEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETNEEERESEE

Refer to notes 19 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Bt E BRI 19531 -

At 31 December 2021, the Group held unlisted equity
and debt securities and unlisted investment funds with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$37,005,000
and HK$8,521,000 respectively which were classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
RZB_—F+ZA=+—8H - EBEEEHE}FL
TRAREBEFLFELITREES - REES A
#)/37,005,000/% 7T X 8,521,000 7T ' DB AE
BEARUAATEIRVEEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted equity
and debt securities and unlisted investment funds
included, but were not limited to:

B BEEEZIFELETRAREBRZSFLIFELTRE
B2 A THEFEMERZ EIRFEEETRR

° enquiring the management and assessing the
methodologies used in fair value measurement
and the appropriateness of the key assumptions
and parameters based on our knowledge of the
investment and using our auditor’s valuation
expert’s evaluation;

ERFPEIRERR 2 R M BRI EAD 2
HMEZERZTM  MEEEERARTHATES
BIZARE  BAREBERRZ2HIBEN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

R

Key audit matter

BEEER

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRUMBEEZ A FETE(E

The valuations of the Group’s unlisted equity and debt
securities and unlisted investment funds are based on
a combination of market data and different valuation
models which may require to consider numbers of
input. The inputs to the valuation techniques used to
measure fair value are classified into level 3 fair value
hierarchy in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
EEEFLLTRARGBRELSRIFLTREESZ
HEDERTSEEMAIEFTEREE TRABIEZ
ARGERELNLRSGEE - BRAEATFEZEHER
MM ABB IS EAEEVBREERNFEI1IRL
FEFAERNZEF=RRTERBR -

The valuation of the unlisted equity and debt securities
is complex and requires the application of significant
judgment by the management.
FELTRARBBRESFZGENEFTEM - BEX
EREREAEANAE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFNFTNEEERESEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted equity
and debt securities and unlisted investment funds
included, but were not limited to: (Continued)

B EEEZFLITRAREBESFLIELTRE
EeHEZ AT EFEMKBZEFEFBEESIR
n: &

° checking, on sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used by comparing
key underlying financial data inputs to external
sources and investee companies’ audited financial
statements and management information as
applicable;

BB R AREEM BB EINAER - AR
REIREQAZKERV B REETEER (40
B B E P A A BUR 2 R SE Y
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key audit matter

BEEER

Fair value measurement on financial assets (Continued)

BRUMBEEZ A FETE(E)

The fair values of unlisted equity and debt securities
and unlisted investment funds were valued by
independent qualified professional valuers or fund
manager, where appropriate.
FIEMRAREBESFLFLTREEESNATE
THBUAEREXMEMNESKLRE(ER)E
1Tfh1E -

R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFNFTNEEERESEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the fair value
measurement of the Group’s portfolio of unlisted equity
and debt securities and unlisted investment funds
included, but were not limited to: (Continued)

Bt EEEZIELTRAREHESFLRIELTRE
EeHEaZ A TTEFEMRDZEFEFBRFETR
NN

° evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified professional
valuers;
AEBLIEERBERMGEMZER I REE
M

° checking the arithmetical accuracy on the valuation
model; and

BEMEE 2 EAEEE - &

° enquiring the management and fund manager to
assess the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the methodologies used and key assumptions
and parameters adopted in the fair value
measurement.
MERERECKRBEERNGANE AT EFTERR
CRAZAE  FRAZERBRR2EBzZaEE
Mg -

We considered management’s fair value measurement on
financial assets were supportable by available evidence.
BMRREEBHVKEECZ ATENERIRZEX

5 o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B ZHENRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

R

BB RS P BRREAEREN
B

BHANEEEHERSRAMBERRES MR
HRHFFRERMEBNBEAERBADNEE
BRE THEBERRMABRNZBEIRE
BPZBREREARDEFKRERMEERR
HE - R 2SR EEAME R - BT EHRA
BEZARHEMEMALTE FHAEEME
- ARFREFZSKTIHNRE - ETRRERIR
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SR F R AR BE IR - SHRRERA A A R IREF 3
$HERSIE - IMREERRPZFHRRAE B K
EARERAEFEZSHRAMBRREMEK
FEZ LA M ISHARFEL R FERE - BIA
FASERR PR AT IRARE N -

REBBEENEIETENNBIED - RME
RERAE - RI5TEXREREE - RFITF

o BAIRFHAEBENREFRERMEBERE M
BHRRFESAERRAZ AR - Rt R
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HE - MAMGFAIRE S R BER  BE &
BER  EBRRAIZEERARBIEH 2
£ FptREBRABMGFEMER 2 BAH
Rz RBRERAREERRRERMERN
ZEBARHERERZ AR -

o THREEHEMZ AR URIHEE
2EHEF  BARMLEY BEERD

ZHRINBEREERER -

o FHAEEMRASHEREMNREMERED
SEHERT RERRE 2 A B -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B ZHENRE

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P0O5467

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEEkAMEZEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020

—E-fF —T_FTF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B &E FET FAEIT

- «&«/&/¥/W/VV 00000/

Revenue Wz 6 6,538 6,037

Other income H A s 7 — 659
Loss arising in change in fair value  #Ei@1Ez=RUA A FETR 2
of financial assets at fair value M EERATEERESL

through profit or loss, net i)k (48,731) (5,632)

Administrative expenses and TR REMEERS

other operating expenses (20,849) (19,177)

Finance costs BB KA 8 (988) 679)

Loss before income tax MRATSBIAIE B 9 (64,030) (18,792)

Income tax expense FrSH 2 12 - -

Loss for the year attributable to 22 F#E A B EEEE
owners of the Company (64,030) (18,792)

Other comprehensive income  H & mE U

Items that may be reclassified @E#ZUEEF7EZHE=K
subsequently to profit or loss: ZJEH :

Reclassification of cumulative — BN B A BB
translation reserve upon W E T 0 M R AT IE 5
deregistration of a foreign
subsidiary - 4

Other comprehensive income  FEHM2EKE
for the year - 4

Total comprehensive loss for EARBEEANELFEERZE

the year attributable to EiEAE

owners of the Company (64,030) (18,788)
Loss per share BRER 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREECEN) (9.14) (2.68)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  BEM 2T AZSRAMBRER 2AKILD -
consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI &

At 31 December 2021 R - ZE-—F+-H=+—8H

Notes

2021
—_E-—5F
HK$°000

Y 5

FET

2020
—E-TF
HK$’000
FHET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 15 262 1,494
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 — 2,733
Intangible assets mEEE 17 7,135 5,785
7,397 10,012
Current assets REEE
Prepayments T RIE 528 517
Other receivables Ho 4t fE WBR TR 232 2,027
Deposits paid Bt 772 4,960
Amount due from a related JE U —fE A A R IR
company 18 - 51
Financial assets at fair value FHRETEAQNTEYERE 2
through profit or loss MG EE 19 238,818 299,630
Cash and cash equivalents Re kIR EBEIEB 20 2,371 2,681
242,721 309,866
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEATBR 3N N EL A JE - BR 3K 21 25,905 28,788
Other financial liability HEmBiaE
~ non-convertible bond - N ERES 22 10,000 9,973
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 = 2,874
35,905 41,635
Net current assets REBEEFE 206,816 268,231
Total assets less current HEERARBEE
liabilities 214,213 278,243
Net assets BEFE 214,213 278,243
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R E BRI &

At 31 December 2021 R —E-—¥+=-H=+—8H

2021 2020
—B-—F —TTHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

P 5 FET THET

EQUITY e
Capital and reserves KABREBEABEELRR

attributable to owners i

of the Company
Share capital & 7 24 7,003 7,003
Reserves fE 207,210 271,240
Total equity AR 214,213 278,243
Net asset value per share (HK$) BREEFRE(ETT) 25 0.31 0.40

The consolidated financial statements were approved and 4GAMBHREER ST _—_F=ZA=+—H%E
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March ~ EEE2#EREETE - WLHATIALKRE

2022 and are signed on its behalf by: #=E:
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
E 3L EmX
Director Director
BE BE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these M 2T A& EHA PV HHRER ZAKITH -
consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEDBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRFERAEL
Capital
Share Share Contribution Share option Translation  contribution  Accumulated Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses equity
RAa  RORE ESER  BRERE ELRG TERE ZiEE  BRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TEL TAL TAL T TiEn Fhn TEL
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Hiza) (izth) (Wite) (Hiztd)
At 1 January 2020 RZE-%F
—R-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 @ 45,330 (650,510) 297,031
Loss for the year FRER - - - - = = (18792 (18792
Other comprehensive loss: EH2EES
Reclassfication of cumulative ~ —FiEANHB AR
translation reserve upon HiEMEEND
deregstration of a foreign BRHERGE
subsidiary - - - - 4 - - 4
Total comprehensive loss FEXEERER
for the year - - - - 4 - (18,79 (18,788)
Lapse of share options BRESH - = = (2,665) = = 2,665 =
At31 December2020andat  RZEZTF
1 January 2021 TZA=+-Ak
“Eo-&
—R—-H 7,008 146,099 646,448 - - 45,330 (566,637) 278,243
Loss for the year FRER - - - - = = (64,030 (4,080)
Total comprehensive loss FEREBBER
for the year - - - - - - (64,030) (64,030)
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-F
+ZA=1-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 - - 45,330 (630,667) 214,213
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the

Notes:

(@

year ended 31 December 2021 E—FE-—F+_A=+—HIFE

The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward represents
the amount transferred from the share premium due to the share
premium reduction effective on 23 November 2015 and various
capital reduction subsequently. Under the Bermuda Companies Act,
the contributed surplus is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot make a distribution out of the contributed surplus
if: (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than its liabilities.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated
to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share option
over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the
fair value of the share option at grant date. The amount for each
period is determined by spreading the fair value of the share option
over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised as staff
costs and related expenses with a corresponding increase in the
share option reserve.

Translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the
translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency
(i.e. Hong Kong dollar (“‘HK$")) which are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign
operations.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr.
Mung”), a director and substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits paid for
investments in prior years, and fulfilled his responsibility as a personal
guarantee and settled all outstanding balance of deposits paid for
investment.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n _\éfﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

2021
—_E-—5F
HK$°000

FET

2020
—E-TF
HK$’000
FHET

Cash flows from operating REXB2HRERE
activities
Loss before income tax BRPISTAIE R (64,030) (18,792)
Adjjustments for: EBt T3 EEEL FHE
Dividend income B& B A (5,953) (3,377)
Interest income FEHA (585) (2,660)
Depreciation of property, plant Y - BREMEEITE
and equipment 1,254 1,602
Depreciation of right-of-use FEREEEZIE
assets 2,733 3,465
Gain on deregistration of a —MIM B A R REE 2 W
subsidiary - (69)
Loss arising in change in fair FRBREARNTFEIEZHBE
value of financial assets at fair EATEESHEA CEBTFE
value through profit or loss, net 48,731 5,632
Finance costs A& AR 988 679
Operating cash flows before Rt & BEEH EELRERE
movements in working capital (16,862) (13,520)
Increase in prepayments TR FRIEIE BN (11) 6)
Decrease in other receivables Hoth e W BR OB A 1,795 998
Decrease/(increase) in deposits BftreR (8 m)
paid 4,188 (3,898)
Decrease in amount due from JE Wy — i B 3 A R SRIER
a related company 51 &3
Decrease/(increase) in financial BRBmBRAATEINR M BEEE
assets at fair value through A, (8
profit or loss 12,081 (14,704)
Decrease in accruals and JE 5 BR SR 2 LAl FE AT BR OB
other payables (2) (100)
Net cash generated from/ REERELE (R 2B FHE
(used in) operating activities 1,240 (81,197)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n _\éiﬁﬁﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-fF —T_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAEIT
- «&«/&/¥/W/VV 00000/
Cash flows from investing REXBZRERE
activities
Purchase of property, BAME - BB &&
plant and equipment (22) (50)
Purchase of intangible assets BAEREE (1,350) =
Dividend received S 5,953 3,377
Interest received =S 585 2,660
Net cash generated from REXEREEZHSFE
investing activities 5,166 5,987
Cash flows from financing MEXKZRERE
activities
(Repayment of)/proceed from BESKHREERZ(BE),/
margin loan from securities FT1S 5008
broker (3,582) 27,960
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEERE (2,934) (3,726)
Interest paid ERF LA (200) (200)

Net cash (used in)/generated MEXKFRH) EEZESFE
from financing activities (6,716) 24,034

Net decrease in cash and cash RE&RBESLZEEB D FEH

equivalents (310) (1,176)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFEEHN2HERRESEEER

the beginning of the reporting

period 2,681 3,857

Cash and cash equivalents at RBEHPRZRERELEEEE
the end of the reporting
period 2,371 2,681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. Its principal
place of business is situated at Unit 3107, 31/F., Shun
Tak Centre, West Tower, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2020, the Company’s parent is China
Lead Investment Holdings Limited (“China Lead”), a
limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ng Kwok Fai. On
27 January 2021, Mr. Mung Bun Man Alan, a director
of the Company, completed the acquisition of China
Lead and became the ultimately controlling party of the
Company. At 31 December 2021, the beneficial owner of
the Company was Mr. Mung Bun Man Alan.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’'000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are investing
in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities, listed
derivative financial instruments and unlisted investment
funds.

—REHR

Global Mastermind Capital Limited ERER A
BREBRAR(EATDRASEHST
MR ERREREFEREREERAT
RERNDER BB S XS MERA G ([H
Al £ o RARBIEMPEE 2 it A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda i F 8243
RN E B T 7B 1682005k {2
D PEREES1HEBI07E o

R-ZE-_TEFE+-_F=+—H ARQRAZ
HRRIRREBEZESEMA I 2 AR
NEREREERER AT ((BE]) KA
REERABREBNE - N2 Z—4F
—AZt+tB  ARREEEMXELET
AR BEE R AR R B 2 RARIER T -
RZBEZ—F+=-A=+—H ARAE
HHEBABFMIKE -

RAEMBHRRABITEY  BLTAASEAR
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BB AAZREI TR (TET)
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021"

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 REVBHRREREEHE)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

HAEMBRMRREL KR AEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 REVBHRREREEHE)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

REAFEXRZGZHMBETAME -

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair

value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

AR ER BB RN B R & A
BRI ERNFEZMEENE  HE
TR TRIE - LABUA )44 HE SRS
BEDEZERBERRR ZER -

o BB EmE - A FEE
ERANRDFEAEZBARELZ
ABREELRBGABRHEELQT
BAEZEEDIRE - ZH=
Ao R

measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in e F—HBABEBAERUNE
active markets for identical assets or liabilities EAHNGEEREEXERE
that the entity can access at the measurement EERMISHR 2 WmECREH
date; )

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted o FRMABUIRIERSE R
prices included within Level 1, that are BIEZBEN  BEXBEA
observable for the asset or liability, either EERHEEERGI 28 A

directly or indirectly; and B R
e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the e FoHMMABEBDEEXAE
asset or liability. TATER ST 2 o A B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 TESHHE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:
° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

BHE%E
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WK e

ARRBE NIIER T EUSHEHIHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E—ZE-—F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 TESHHEGE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued) aHEE(E)

BakHEt2EKRESEKREDH
BRARBEAA - WBLRARZE

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners

of the Company. Total comprehensive income RS BERBNARBIHEEA °
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the

Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the WERE  MBAR M BE®EA
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring THE UWFEeABRREGASE
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s B g5HEoR -

accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, FMEEBRNARBEERAE  #
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions mo A AXKBEREEKE R
between members of the Group are eliminated in full T ZEAZRGBEENRERENRE

on consolidation.
Interests in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 TESHHEGE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies Ip

In preparing the financial statements of each RERUZENEEEE W BRE
individual group entity, transactions in currencies B A BRI BB UINEEE
other than the functional currency of that entity (ONEE)VET 2R G TIRR S BB E
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of AIERER - RIMEHR - AN

exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

JIE2EMERRNE A ZEAE
REHMBE - WINESHELZAF
TE?H%Z?ET%IEE REERVE
EHZEMERBHBE - LINE
FHEXIEREL KA EZIFERIA
BT TEHHRE -

ERERGEEL CELEZERNE
EHRARBRP R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case, the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

On the deregistration/disposal of a foreign operation,
all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2021

S (A&)

RERGEAVHHREME - A%HE
BNEBZEERABREREN
RZEMEXBERNERZ 2R
B ENET) - WA KRFXIAERZH
AP ERBE - RIFZIEESR
RIERE  HEEBERT - BRXHE
BRERETHRE  -ELZER
ZRE) N EA 2 W PR
REZLRBERT 2 #amP Rat o

KRBT, E BN EBE - 3
BENARREEANZERMR
ot RN EEN ZREEHN

K =
DIEEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost or fair value less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

V¥ BERRE

ME - BERREREE BN
KPR R FERER BT
ENHRZFRMEREBRME) 2 -

RITEETHR  ABEREMEE
E RS R EL A AT 4R AR A B 2 i
B - et AIEREFH - FREE
AR ENE - BRIE AR ZEM
M BEHIRFE  REREERE
WEHRER -

The principal annual rates are as follows: FEFEHLERMOT -

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term HEFEE R
Office equipment 20% WREHRE 20%
Motor vehicles 20% bt 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

ME - BERRBEEREERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2021

EHWRBEETEE

EREAFH EBUBETLEE
AR R R AR R R EREES

MBETR

MBEERMBABREEEEK
REBT RGN AW TR E
ReMAVKEECERESRRE
EAMBERALRLI®R LEEER
BB AR R IHE I I E 2 KR
ARXNEBEZHMBEERR -

MBEERMBABVFIRATE
ATE - EERBEBRUBRBTHR
BELMBARCEBEBEDRKRNARYF
BEFR(GEBBHERADFESIRD)
ZHBEEERIN ZRXBEARISE
BREFAXTNREMBEEEXY
BREZAFEGRNER)  BEEREE
REBEBERRARFEIKZ
MBEEEXMBRABZIXRZKAN
R R R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) BHEITAGE)
Financial assets (Continued) BB EEE)

MBEENDBRERTEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) BHEITAGE)
B EE#E)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

B AR R M B UA

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BHEITAGE)
Financial assets (Continued) BB EEE)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category includes derivative financial
instruments, equity securities and debt securities
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised as revenue in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “revenue” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including other receivables, deposits
paid, amount due from a related company and
bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

BT A(E)
ML E (&)

XRREBHMBRELNFORAET
B2 BMIEEEREE)

BHEEEE 8 MERE)

BT E  BMEEERAREA
WENAEEZFEANALRE
HAEEERKRZ RS RE M
B0 2 58 (IR V)08 BB 2 BT
REET) o

RARBERRENKEBEESR
FONREMEZBREEN) 28
BHEEBRENIREREAETUE
J%: o

AEBFEME  AKREHRGEIE
7B 715 2 DA TR

o EHWOR

e BEHRANME RERTE:
&

o IINEMEERRUEA) °

202158 | RRABREARDA

97



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FESHEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 TESHHEGE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accruals and other
payables, lease liabilities and other financial liability —
non-convertible bond) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities (Continued)

Except for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform in which the Group applies the
practical expedient, when the contractual terms of
a financial liability are modified, the Group assess
whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 FESTTHEGE)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) BHEITAGE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) HEEERER (&
Derecognition of financial liabilities (Continued) BItERMBEEE
For non-substantial modifications of financial RIS ERKRIEBRNTBEEZ
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the FEREIIME  HEAMBEEZ
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will REEJAETENREREZR
be calculated at the present value of the modified BftE  YERZVBaEZRER
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial FIEBEIR - MEENR I AKE
liabilities’ original effective interest rate. Transaction RAREETVBEaEcREERAE
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying WHER T B - M BERE
amount of the modified financial liabilities and BEZEMAEBRETBRARNERT
are amortised over the remaining term. Any R o

adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BMEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR ()
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESTHBEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property
which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of storage room that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the standalone
price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that standalone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.

HE (&)
AEBERAHNA (B)
MEER

BAEBFECOVID- 195z S
EREAAITERREN - MER
LTER  AEBESHEEBHRER
—IBEBEMNEEAR :

o ZABMEBRBRINER AN
ZIRRMEENENEATHE
g8E: &

. BEESENRE - EN0DE
1681 0 K 2
i EARBEEA D
SR 18 3L (B 8 77 0 £ 13
B -

RARER-—HREBHEARNEE
fgams » AERBEERNEBERE
HAERAHNEERTRIRRARL
ERTHEN RN EERRENHY
B EHERE -

AEEBBHEBEREEEET
HERE HBHERABNENE
EITEFRE °

202158 | RRABREARDA

109



110

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVERRFREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FESHERAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease

payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
future lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
unchanged discount rate, unless the change in lease
payments results from a change in floating interest
rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised
discount rate that reflects change in the interest
rate and makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and
only if, both of these conditions are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark
reform; and

° the new basis for determining the lease
payments is economically equivalent to the
previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the modification).

If lease modifications are made in addition to
those lease modifications required by interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the applicable
requirements in HKFRS 16 (see the accounting
policy above) to account for all lease modifications
made at the same time, including those required by
interest rate benchmark reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 TESHHEGE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets, intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FESTTHERGE

(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Revenue and other income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investments
goes exdividend.

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset.

Managerial and administrative service income is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2021

TEEE Bl ()

R EEIBE &AL - AIEE(HE
CELBEMZEAES LAZEL
eI s kE €5 - HLE AR
EENSBLEE(REELEN)
DA F B 0 £ R SRR B B B R
FEFETE 2 BRE{E - JREE B & T A
R B R -

Wzt R B A

FLEMHREZBRBWAREL R
W ER SR IR 2 RN B HERR,

EHHREZBRERARZIRE Z K
Bk BEFFER o

MEBWANE B ERNXERRNZ
BEZEREERER -

EFRBZRKEBEASEEREHR 2
Mz o B E IR R 1T BUIR 7% A
HARVARE R8I HA R SRR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before
tax’ as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BE(E)
Deferred tax (Continued) FEAERIE (E)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 FESHEAE)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to after
deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retiremment benefit obligations

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in
separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, with the employers’ contributions subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
The Group’s contributions to the scheme are
expensed as incurred are vested in accordance
with the scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees
leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the
employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited
contributions is used to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect
of the time value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STER (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KHEVKBRRFGHREERTESR
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (1B)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32 FESHBKE

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine
whether an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits has become probable. If
it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the
change in probability occurs, except in the extremely
rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can
be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

U

(i)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Related party transactions (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)()) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the Group and
a related party, regardless of whether a price is
charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments under level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments under
level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting to approximately
HK$45,526,000 (2020: HK$53,758,000) at 31 December
2021 are measured at fair values with fair values being
determined based on unobserved inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating
to these factors could affect the reported fair values
of these instruments. See note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements for further disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. No other discrete financial information is
provided other than the Group’s results and financial
position as a whole. Accordingly, no further information
about operating segment is presented.

The Company’s place of domicile is in Hong Kong
which is determined based on the location of central
management and the Group’s revenue is mainly derived
from Hong Kong for both years.

ERTARAHTET(EHRRRLER
RE)ZEMTIRERRD BERREFNA
R o B AN SR BB RE XA LW AR S -
BMERHEEMB LM HER - Bit - 18
2INRED M ELZER

RRABZAEBREE  IREFRAERE
EMENETE  MASERMEFE 2K
mEBRKBEL

REVENUE W =
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Dividend income & B A 5,953 3,377
Interest income M EW A 585 2,660
6,538 6,037
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME

7.

H &
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET

Gain on deregistration of

— it 2 B EH A 2 M s

a subsidiary (Note a) (Htita) = 69

Managerial and administrative B RITH ARG W a
service income - 85
Government grant (Note b) BRATwE Bh (Ha#b) — 555
- 659

Notes: Hfat -

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2020, upon the @ REEZZTTEF+ZA=+—HLILF
deregistration of an inactive foreign subsidiary, the T R —EEE G N B A B B s
corresponding translation reserve was released and a gain B AEERFEEER IR BB A
on deregistration of a subsidiary of approximately HK$69,000 AU P R RERR MR 25 4969,00078 7T
was recognised.

(o)  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group b) REBEZZT=TEF+ZA=+—HIEF

recognised government grants of approximately HK$555,000
in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies which relates to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

FINANCE COSTS 8. MERRA
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest on: FE -
Other financial liability HthB B aE
- non-convertible bond (note 22) - TRl R ESH (K 222) 227 237
Lease liabilities HEAE 60 245
Other interest expenses to RIS 2 M F B X
financial institutions 701 197
988 679
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRATEHAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/ BRETEFRAIBERENE, GFA) T &
(crediting): 1g
2021 2020
—E-—5 —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEET N2 -
- Audit services - BWIZBRTS 300 420
— Non-audit services - IR 62 70
362 490
Depreciation of property, Mz - WEMEBEINE
plant and equipment 1,254 1,602
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFREEENE 2,733 3,465
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss &5 (W), B 18558 (90) 109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

o.

10.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. KMRATEBAIEIARGE)
(CONTINUED)
An analysis of the loss arising in change in fair value of FRBREURTEIRZUBEERT
financial assets at FVTPL, net is as follows: EEHELEZEBFBE2OMBAT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Realised gain on disposal of HEFERERRNATE
financial assets at FVTPL IR IS EEZ
B# R
Proceeds from disposal of HEEBERENATE
financial assets at FVTPL PIBR 2 B TS & BE 2 FR1S 3R IE (177,959) (278,050)
Less: Carrying amounts of W BEREBERERAATETR
financial assets at FVTPL B E 2 REE 174,099 276,158
(3,860) (1,892)

Unrealised loss on financial assets & @ERBFEUA A FETIRZ

at FVTPL MEEE 2 ASRER 52,591 7,524
48,731 5,632
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 10. EETFBIX
The employee benefit expense, including directors’ BERMNAZ(BREESFHMOT :

remuneration is as follows:

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHT FHET

Salaries, bonus and other allowance #& - {E4L & H b i=AL 11,128 8,509
Retirement benefit scheme RIREF B

contributions 164 148

11,292 8,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERFETHRABZFHM
REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) ESRFETHRABZEHMH
emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the BEEA LR BB R RHES
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing BERATRBCEETREZTHA
Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong BEZHEEMaWT :

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Retirement
Allowance benefit
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fee in kind bonus contributions Total
BER BINER
we BNEA BiEEA it I @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TR TER

2021 ZE--f
Executive directors: HITES .
Mr. Mung ESik 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmXEE 3,960 923 330 18 5,231

Independent non-executive BUFHTES:

directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching R ERE 60 = = = 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy BERLE 60 = = = 60
Mr. Lei Seng Fat TRERE 60 = = = 60

6,540 923 330 36 7,829
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE =T =

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

—F+-A=+—HILFE

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

M. EERFETHRAEZFHNGE)

() EERFEITHRAEZHME)

Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Fee bonus  contributions Total
RIKEF
ko g2 SRR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TR AT FAT
- ]
2020 “ToTE
Executive directors: BTES:
Mr. Mung SRE 840 - 8 848
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan E) G 3,960 330 18 4,308
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching BHEERE 60 - - 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy BEREE 60 = = 60
Mr. Lei Seng Fat EROEEAE 60 - - 60
4,980 330 26 5,336

The Group has been providing accommodation
reimbursement of approximately HK$923,000 (2020:

HK$ nil), to Mr. Mung Bun
and his family members.

Man, Alan for use by him

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for service rendered
by him as the chief executive officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 December

2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors have material
interests

On 29 February 2016, Excellent Mind Investments
Limited, which is owned as to 60% to Mr. Mung
and 40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, executive
directors of the Company, became a shareholder of
the Global Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”),
up to 20 May 2021. Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung Bun
Man, Alan, are also the directors of GMHL as at and
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
received managerial and administrative service
income of approximately HK$35,000 from GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
paid commission and other handling charge of
approximately HK$29,000 (2020: HK$4,000) to
Global Mastermind Securities Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
paid advisory fee of approximately HK$150,000 to
Global Mastermind Securities Limited.

(a)

(b)

*

M. EERFETHRAESZFHNE)

EERTETBRAEBZHMNGE)

BHE-_Z-_—FER-_F_FF+=
A=+—BLFE AEELER
EEXNERMARERE 2 BR<
SERBE o MmESR

ESRREARRZIRG &
EF_E A IIIJ

R_E-—XRE_A=-_THhAE -
Excellent Mind Investments Limited
(BEARAMITEERRERFmMX
S D BIFEBB60% KA0%ER) K A
Global Mastermind Holdings Limited
BERABEEERAA(TRRK
B)z2RR BEE-Z-_—FHA
ZtHIE - RZZE=—FR-F=F
FH+ZA=+—HAUKEBEZMA
LEFE REEREMXEETR
BRIRKBZES -

BE-ZT-_ZFF+-_A=+—HL
FEAKREBRRBIARBINZ
B K AT AR 5 Y 2 £35,000/8 7T

BE-_F-_—F+t-A=+—HL
FE AEEMRERKRBZEZEN
BARRIRKABESFARAAX
NRE REMFEEL29,0008 T
(ZZ T4 : 400087T) °

HE-_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—H1E
EV REBRARKANBESFER
—JSIZ/I—J-FID u@fg’;:i"j15o OOO/%TC g

EX Al
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material
interests (Continued)

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master Investments
Limited (“Hope Master”) and Famous Flamingo
Limited (“Famous Flamingo”), indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of GMHL, entered into rental
agreements with the Company. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company repaid
lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,838,000
(2020: HK$2,225,000) and paid interest on lease
liabilities of approximately HK$39,000 (2020:
HK$157,000) in relation to the rental agreement
entered into with Hope Master and repaid lease
liabilities of approximately HK$1,036,000 (2020:
HK$1,256,000) and paid interest on lease liabilities
of approximately HK$21,000 (2020: HK$88,000) in
relation to the rental agreement entered into with
Famous Flamingo.

On 24 September 2021, Hope Master and Famous
Flamingo, indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
GMHL, entered into rental agreements with the
Company. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the Company paid lease payment of
approximately HK$321,000 (2020: HK$ nil) and
HK$233,000 (2020: HK$ nil) in relation to the rental
agreement entered into with Hope Master and
Famous Flamingo respectively.

Saved as disclosed above, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts in which the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

M. EERFETHRAEZFHNGE)

(b)

ESRREARERZXS &
BREN (&)

RZE—NF+H+=H  Hope
Master Investments Limited([Hope
Master]) RIRH K BB ZEZEM
B 2 a]Famous Flamingo Limited
([Famous Flamingo /) B2 AKX 2 7]
AIVHERS  RBE_T-_—F
TZA=+—HLFE ARAH
B Hope Masteri] s 2 HE W% E
BHEAEL1,838,0008 (=%
—ZTF 2,225,000 L) R
EAEFBH39,0008 L (ZE=F
F 157,000/ T) K st B Famous
Flamingos] Z v HE HH#EEHRE
BE%71,086,0008 L (ZE_ZF :

#)21,000/8 T (ZZ =4 : 88,000
BIT) °

RZFB-_—FAAZ+HAHE - &RK
X% 2 &K B2 fHope Master
K Famous Flamingo £ XA &] 5] 32
HEWZE REBEE_T_—F+=
A=+—BLLFE  XRAHD 5
EiHope Master&Famous Flamingo
RV HEMAX N HEENKLY
321,000 L (ZT =T F : T L)
K233,0008 T (ZE_FF : T8
JT) °

B EXBEEEIN  RERIFARE
] B fx - BEEE AN A B 3 HAE ] B B
RAEIRRIAT RARBREFEE X
FRENRETHEAEA R 2 EMR
7~ BHHEH -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EERFETHRABZEHMH(A)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEEEFMAL
The five highest paid employees of the Group FA - AEBREERTHALE
during the year included two (2020: two) directors, FERA(CEZZF WRB)ES ' #
details of whose remuneration are set out in note E2HMEFBHR LXHiE11(a) ©
11(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the FAR T =R (CZTZTF : =)L
year of the remaining three (2020: three) highest FBARAIESHEFETRABLZ
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief ERFNEEZEFMEFENT

executive of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Salaries, bonus and other e - LA R H fbi=AL
allowance 1,764 1,733
Retirement benefit scheme RINEFIFT B
contributions 52 51
1,816 1,784
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of AEERRMEEFEYERNRAEZRS
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to FMALT AN —BATIZNIER
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation MAXEE BB S HBBEEZ
for loss of office for both years. HES -
The number of the highest paid employees who WIBARBEETAEFTMN T
are not the directors of the Company whose THANZz ZEFHHEEBAZSAT -
remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
2021 2020
—E2-—-F —E_FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Nil to HK$500,000 £ 2500,0007% 7T 2 2
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001& T
1,000,00075 7T 1 1
3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group incurred estimated tax losses or the taxable
profits was wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses
brought forward from prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12. FRSHiB XX (8)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to mEBRkEMZEARKSKRFEMSHA
the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement X RBRFTSTAIEIE A HERAT ¢
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss before income tax BrPTS R AT E R (64,030) (18,792)

Tax calculated at the rates applicable RIEMRBEIRS 5 AERER 2

to the tax jurisdictions concerned MEFEZHIE (10,565) (3,101)
Expenses not deductible for A A
tax purposes 8,675 97
Income not taxable for tax purposes  H 78R U A (1,891) (3,582)
Estimated tax losses not recognised KR 2 (HatFi &5 18 3,781 6,586
Income tax expense FRS B - -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused REEBR - NREEA#392,100,000%
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$392,100,000 T(ZZT -4 : 369,185,000/ L) K&
(2020: HK$369,185,000) available for offset against future REETHIEEE - AT RERERIEF
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in B R BETRET B 1805 A RR R AR R 2 30
respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future HEBEERAE QU ERHIBEE
profit streams and unrecognised tax losses could be MRIEERIEEE o

carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRES
The computations of basic and diluted loss per share RRARBEBEABRGEREAREESE .
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the FTETERTIISIEEL

following data:

2021 2020
—E--F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
e
Loss [Fi=]
Loss for the purpose of basic and AU ESRERREE
diluted loss per share EEBRERTHEEA
(Loss for the year attributable to FEEEEER)
owners of the Company) (64,030) (18,792)
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
’000 000
T T %
|
Number of shares gl 4=
Weighted average number of AU EERERREE
ordinary shares for the purpose of ~ [E518 2 & 3@ A INAE F 19 &
basic and diluted loss per share 700,334 700,334
The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for MEFE 2 BIRER REEEEER -
both years.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, no diluted loss HE-Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHIFE -
per share was presented as there was no potential R EBED ETERR - WA EES
ordinary shares in issue. BREEEE -
As the Company’s outstanding share options where RARARA R ARITEE 2 BARE(WER) #
applicable had an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per BHE_ZT-_TF+A=T—HILLFES
share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2020, BREABBZAEEERESETE - G
the exercise of the above potential dilutive shares is not HEREEEERBR LB TEEERN,
assumed in the calculation of diluted loss per share. WRMIEITHR -
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14.

15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
year ended 31 December 2021, nor has any dividend
been proposed by the board of directors subsequent to

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

the end of the reporting period (2020: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. RE

—E-—F+-_A=+—HILFE -
i%AIﬁﬁﬁ
HEA#EHZHE?ET%TJ—E@ % AR

BE

\_1
Bz

BRI X EATAX

S 23R F

15. Y% - BERRE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HE#E AE WAERE act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET FET
Cost B AR
At 1 January 2020 RZE-TF—H—H 3,378 4,118 596 8,092
Additions NE - - 50 50
At 31 December 2020 and A ¢+ A=1t—H
at 1 January 2021 FRA-ZT-—%—F—H 3,378 4,118 646 8,142
Additions ANES - - 22 22
At 31 December 2021 RZZ-Z—Ff+=-A=+—H 3,378 4,118 668 8,164
Accumulated depreciation i“l‘?ﬁ%
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-TF—H—H 1,202 3,586 258 5,046
Charge for the year FEXH 1,118 377 107 1,602
At 31 December 2020 and A ¢+ A=+—H
at 1 January 2021 ERZE-—%—H—H 2,320 3,963 365 6,648
Charge for the year FELH 1,027 155 72 1,254
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H 3,347 4,118 437 7,902
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2021 R=B=--f+=ZA=+—-H 31 - 231 262
At 31 December 2020 RZF-TF+-A=+—H 1,058 155 281 1,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EAEEE
Office
WAE
HK$’000
FET
Cost AR
At 1 January 2020, at 31 December 2020 R-Z—_ZTF—A—H  HR-ZT_ZTF
and at 1 January 2021 +—A=t+—HER=-_ZE-_—%—HF—H 9,663
Write-off upon lease expiry FATE & JE i R i 8 (9,663)
At 31 December 2021 RZEBE-_—F+=-_A=+—H =
Accumulated depreciation ZITE
At 1 January 2020 R-E-_ZTF—H—H 3,465
Charge for the year FEZW 3,465
At 31 December 2020 and R-ZT_ZTF+_A=+—HER
at 1 January 2021 —E2-—%—H—H 6,930
Charge for the year FELZH 2,733
Write-off upon lease expiry FAFE & i B 8 (9,663)
At 31 December 2021 R-E_—F+-_HA=+—H -
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2021 R=ZB=-—+=ZHA=+—-8 -
At 31 December 2020 W_ZE_ZF+-_A=+—H 2,733
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 16. FREEE(E)
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Expense relating to BEHHEERE s AX
short-term leases 570 26
Total cash outflow for leases MECREMLEREE 3,504 3,752
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,874,000 RZZEZZTF+A=+—8H  #RWAE
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HEEFEREEEL2,733,0008 THHEE
approximately HK$2,733,000 at 31 December 2020. The B 542,874,000 7 ° B WA A AT
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other EEENRIERIN  HEWZEILEMEN
than the security interests in the leased assets that are FIEHR - HEEERETNSHAEEEDN
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as EiRm o

security for borrowing purposes.

The Group leases offices for its operations with lease AEBAEXBEENRAT  HESYNA
contracts under fixed term of 1 year (2020: 3 years). EEMRIF(ZT_ZTF : 3F)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E—ZE-—F+_A=+—HIFE

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Club memberships

7. B EE

a8

HK$°000
FET
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2020, at 31 December 2020 RZZE-_ZTF—HF—H
and at 1 January 2021 RZZEZTF+A=+—8HK
R-ZE-_—F—H—H 5,785
Additions NE 1,350
As at 31 December 2021 RZE—_—F+=-H=+—~H 7,135
Accumulated impairment losses §E‘I‘iﬁf§§ﬂ§
At 1 January 2020, at 31 December 2020, A\_FT_TF—H—H-
at 1 January 2021 and at 31 December RZEZTF+=—A=+—80 "
2021 R-ZE-_—F—A—HBk
RZE——F+=-A=+—H =
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—H+-A=+—H 7,135
At 31 December 2020 N _TF+_A=+—H 5,785
The Group holds life-time memberships with non- AEERERIGHE  SEETAIRE
refundable membership fee which are freely transferrable. MEfArehEE E5RE  g£IRN
In the opinion of the directors, the club memberships are BAXNAREERZBEATERES - &K
capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost ZBKAFH -
and therefore is perpetual in duration.
The Group performed impairment test for the intangible REBBSEREIH  AEERER
assets by comparing its recoverable amounts to the PE R S BROR 2 A W [B] < KA B AR T (B ¥ 4%
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period in HEEETREANR - BEEEZ ARG
accordance with HKAS 36. The recoverable amounts of SHREARAFEREEXNAETE - 2 TFE
the intangible assets are determined based on fair value DERFE_EBRERTSE - WBEDR
less cost of disposal. The fair value was determined MEEBE  -Alt - EFRAB - LERZW

based on Level 2 hierarchy using market approach
with reference to quoted market prices. Accordingly,
the directors consider that no impairment loss was
recognised for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

18. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED
COMPANY

Global Mastermind BRI K EE S
Securities Limited BRA 7]

18. B —ERBE X FAKE

Maximum
amount
outstanding

during the year 2021 2020
FRES

M RZAS & —EB--F —ZT_EF

HK$’000 HK$°000 HIK$'000

FE T FET FABIT

51 - 51

The amount due from a related company is unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

REBZ EMITEMBTE -

Derivative financial instruments

IRIMBRIEE -

190. ZBRBHFRU DA FEIIR < BT

BE
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHEIT

el —ERE NP FIRSEEN R8N

listed in Hong Kong, at fair value BAFE 648 -
Listed equity and debt securities: ETRAREREES
— Equity and debt securities listed - REBZ EHRA K
in Hong Kong, at fair value BERfES - BATE 173,874 198,226
— Equity and debt securities - REBEBUINZ ETIRA R
listed outside Hong Kong, BFES  HAFE
at fair value 18,770 47,646
193,292 245,872
Unlisted equity and debt securites ~ 3F M RR AN M (E #7555 37,005 24,180
Unlisted investment funds FELEMEEES 8,521 29,578
238,818 299,630

202158 | BRABREARAA

143



144

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at
FVTPL are stated at fair value.

The fair value of the listed derivative financial instruments
and listed equity and debt securities (excluded suspended
trading securities) are determined based on the quoted
market closing prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value of
unlisted equity securities amounting to approximately
HK$28,639,000 and HK$20,687,000 respectively,
was referenced to the valuation carried out by a firm of
independent professional valuers. Details of fair value
measurement are disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, fair value of
unlisted debt securities amounting to approximately
HK$8,366,000 and HK$3,493,000 respectively which
represented convertible loans issued by unlisted private
companies were referenced to the valuation carried out
by a firm of independent professional valuers. Details of
fair value measurement are disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e R R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E—ZE-—F+_A=+—HIFE

19. EBBERUATFEI R T

EE#)

RBEHR - BBBERARFEINRZ
MHBEERNTERZT -

RBEHR » EHIITEMBTAR EHK

ARBEBEFTEREFEEEESF) ZA
FETDZRREEESR S AR W E
BE -

%:g_—ﬁﬁ TTF+ZRA=+—

CEETRABENRNFED RN A
28,639,000/%71:&20 687,000/87C © &%=
B BEGEMTETNMGHEES - AF
B 22 FBEREETBREMTI1PH
= .

%:g_—ﬁﬁ E-EF+_RA=+—
CHEEMEBRESFNRATFESROR
8,366,000,%75&3,493,000,%ﬁ "I ELE
ﬁﬁA/\”“ﬂﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁaﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁm
HEMBTHARBKRER - AFEFEZ
FHERERE M ERRMETIIFHE -



19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

The unlisted investment funds are not quoted in an active
market and transactions in such investments do not occur
on a regular basis. The Company used the net asset value
as reported by the managers of the funds attributable to
the investments held by the Company to determine its fair
value.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, a portfolio of equity and
debt securities with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$91,319,000 and HK$148,537,000 respectively have
been pledged to secure margin loan from securities
broker in accruals and other payables (note 21).

The fair value of the Group’s listed derivative financial
instruments and equity securities listed in Hong Kong
and outside Hong Kong at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements were approximately
HK$167,394,000.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

19. EBBERUATFEI R T

EE#)

FLEMREESIENERM S L RE -
BZEREYBEHETRS - KRBE
AARRFBANRERENESKERS
MEEFENEEERAFE-

R —FRZF_FF+A=1+—
B BEAEES R A491,319,0008 T &
148,537,000 L2 AR EHBHHEE
BEFEH UESHEFELHTFRERGH
AFEET R X S B Ab FE AT BR 70 (Bfd3E21) ©

RELEZEFREVBEHmREABE  AEESF
BRBEBANNZ ETOTER ST AR
FHZ AN TFELAE167,394,00058 7T ©

20. RERREEEHEHE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —EFTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Cash at banks and on hand

RITREMFHERE

2,371 2,681

At 31 December 2021, the Group has cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$55,000 (2020: HK$46,000)
denominated in United States Dollar (‘US$”).

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the Group performed impairment assessment on bank
balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of
the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly,
no allowance for credit losses is provided.

NR-B-—FE+-A=+—0 "&£z
EN(ERDFEZRE MRITESHOA
55,0008 70 (—F — T4 : 46,0008 7T) °

RITARRAF B X EHE R A Y
HEORRAABREBRZRIT

HE_Z-_—FR-ZT=-TF+A=+
—BIEFE  AEEHRITERETRE
AN EHER  RIEFRITHELNT
MRS AUBIENEEBETR
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

21. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. TR R H A B BR K
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FHET
Accruals JEETEREFK 334 331
Margin loan from securities broker B H&E 4L TR E K (Kt 7)

(Note) 25,276 28,157
Bond interest payable FEfHES B 143 143
Other payables E e ARFK 152 157

25,905 28,788
Note: Bt -

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the margin loan from securities
broker was secured by a portfolio of equity and debt securities
which classified as financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin
account, with carrying amounts of approximately HK$91,319,000
and HK$148,537,000 respectively. The Group’s margin loan has no
determined maturity date and is subject to interest specified from
time to time by securities broker. The margin loan is interest bearing
at floating rates. At 31 December 2021, the effective interest rate
ranged from 2.36% (2020: 2.37%) to 2.38% (2020: 2.58%) per
annum.

22. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY — NON-
CONVERTIBLE BOND

The Company issued a non-convertible bond in a principal
amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond”) on 16 April 2014,
the original maturity date is 15 April 2021 (the “Original
Maturity Date”). The Company has an option (the
“Prepayment Option”) to repay the outstanding principal
amount of the Bond at any time before the Original
Maturity Date, but the bondholder shall not redeem the
Bond before the Original Maturity Date.
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22.

RZTFEZ—FR-_ZF-_ZTF+-_A=+—H " &
FRECHRERHAFREFETNHEZEAE
2 BI1%991,319,0007% 7T K 148,537,000/ 7T 2 AR A
REBEF(DEREBREREUNAFENR 2
BEEBEAEER AEBFRERUEETE
BB WEREEFKLCTIHIEEZRNERTE - 7
REFRFHANERGE - RZTE=—F+=ZA=
+—8 BEBRFANEANT2.36% (2T _ZTF :
2.37%)E2.38% (T T =T : 258%) °

HttBaE - T UER’ES

ARABRZTE—WOFEMNA+AEITA
£ $ %8 /410,000,00078 7T 2 7~ A] BE A (& 55
(&%)  REHBHEA-T-_—FHA+
A HE(TREHE]D) - AR E A& (ELED
REFEHBEAMREEERESR 2 REER
e EEFFREATERRIEA
RIEE (&S o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

22. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON-

CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

The Bond carries interest at the rate of 2% per annum
payable annually in arrears on the last day of each
year from the date of the Bond, provided that the final
repayment of the interest shall be on the Original Maturity
Date. However, for every 10% increase in the net profit
in any financial year during the term of the Bond as
compared to the immediate previous year, the interest
rate shall be increased by 1% for that financial year and
with retrospective effect. The following year’s interest rate
will be reset at 2% subject to adjustment depending on
the net profit. The interest rate during the term shall not
be less than 2% per annum and not more than 6% per
annum (the “Cap”). Details of the Bond were set out in
the Company’s announcement date 16 April 2014.

On 16 April 2021, the Company entered into agreement
with the holder of the Bond for one year extension of the
maturity date of the Bond to 16 April 2022. Other terms
and conditions of the Bond remain unchanged.

The Prepayment Option and the Cap are regarded as
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The directors
assessed the fair value of the Prepayment Option and
the Cap with reference to the valuation performed by a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers, which
assess the fair values of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap by using the Monte Carlo method and determined
that the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap were insignificant at the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Prepayment Option and the Cap were
not recognised in the consolidated financial statements at
31 December 2021 and 2020.

2. Ht B EE - T ERES

(%)

BHRRENR2%TE - ARAEBEFBEH
B SFRE—BOHN - EMNEZ&
REEEHRRIHE - AW - REHF
HAZEMMREE  SNESRE—F
EIN10% @ ;%8R E 2 MR AR 1%
WEBHEA o T—F 2R BEHRTE
2% - MEFIARIBRAEA FIAHE - RFEH
AN MEIFEREF2RIEERE
Fon(ER]) - BEHRZFHBHNALRFA
HA—T-—NFNA+NBEZAEA -

RZZEZ—FMA+AB r XAAIg#EE
FEHBEER—FE-_ZT-__FMA+-<
REESFE AR LHE - BEHF 2B Mk
RBRNFHHRFFTE -

B EREBESAEAEHNZHBARITE
TA -BEE2EBIUAEREEMERMT
(HERSRRELATHBENEZATE
RER)ETZHETERENEZATE
RER W WHEENBRESHAREMEZAT
ERERITEKR - At - BRNERLER
HERZEZ—FR-FTTF+=H
S+ —BZEREMBRERPHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY = NON- 22, HtBiKEaE - T ERES
CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) (4&)
The Bond recognised in the consolidated statements of RAEEZZaUBRARPHERZES
financial position of the Group is calculated as follows: FTEWT
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZFTF—H—H 9,936
Interest expense (note 8) FEFEZ (K iF8) 237
Interest paid and payable B REMFIE (200)

At 31 December 2020 and at 1 January 2021 R-Z-ZTF+_A=+—HN

R-_ZE_—F—H—H 9,973
Interest expense (note 8) FEFEZ (K iE8) 227
Interest paid and payable BT RERFIE (200)
At 31 December 2021 R=B=—-%+=ZH=+—8H 10,000
The effective interest rate of the Bond is 2.43% (2020: BEZEBRFENRAE243%(CE-TF
2.43%) per annum. 2.43%) °
The Bond is denominated in HK$. BEHABTTEHE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

23. HEAE

Present value of

Minimum minimum lease
lease payments payments
REBESEAFR BREAENRBRE
2021 2020 2021 2020
B —T-TF B —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T FHET T

Leases liabilities payable: EfNHEEEE :
Within one year —F R = 2,934 = 2,874
In the second to fifth year, HF_-_ZEFERHF
inclusive (BIEEEME) = - - -
- 2,934 - 2,874
Less: Future finance costs  Ji @ AR EEE A A& — (60) — =
Present value of leases HEBENRE
liabilities - 2,874 - 2,874
Less: amount due for o R—FREHEER
settlement within A
one year - (2,874)
Amount due for settlement A —4F 12 B Hi 45 & Y
after one year RIE - -
All lease liabilities are denominated in HK$. FrEMHEBENAEITFE -
The lease liabilities are related to lease contracts entered HEaFEARFHEAR T REANFHope

into between the Company and Hope Master and Famous
Flamingo which are related companies of the Company.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied
is 5.13%.

Master &z Famous Flamingos] 2 (&4
WEM - KANMETFOEERENER
513% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;

E_T-_—F+_-_A=+—HUIFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, R
2021 2020
“EC-F 2
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
RBEE FhEx R EE TEL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREBOAT ERR
Authorised: RE:
At 1 January/at 31 December W-A-B/Kt-A=t-B  100,000,000,000 1,000,000 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
2021 2020
—E--% “T°%
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
RBEE FET e THEL
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR .
At 1 January/at 31 December R=B—-8/Rt-A=t-8 700,333,925 7,003 700,333,925 7,003
25. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 25 BEREEFE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based
on net assets of the Group at 31 December 2021 of
approximately HK$214,213,000 (2020: HK$278,243,000)
and 700,333,925 ordinary shares (2020: 700,333,925

ordinary shares) in issue.

EREEFEDNDREREAE B R
-+ -_A=Z+—HZEBE
EEH214,213,0008 T (ZE_FF :
278,243,000/ 7T) & 700,333,925/% & 3

TEBRR(ZT-FTF : 700,333,925/ &

IR F -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
12 January 2009 (with supplementary amendment on
30 June 2010) (the “Scheme”). Under the Scheme,
the directors of the Company may, at their absolute
discretion, make an offer to any participant to take up the
options. An offer is deemed to have been accepted by the
grantee upon the duplicate of the offer letter comprising
acceptance of the offer being duly signed by the grantee
and paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under
the Scheme shall be no less than the highest of () the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on
the date on which an option is granted, (i) the average
closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date on
which an option is granted and (iii) the nominal value of a
share of the Company on the date on which an option is
granted.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 144,000,000
shares of the Company, being 10% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
approval of the Scheme. An option may be exercised
during a period to be notified by the directors but may not
be exercised after the expiry of 10 years after the date of
grant of the option.

26. BEIRESE

ARRIERZZEZNF—ATBHEMN—
HEREFE(R=_ZE—ZTFA=1H
HEs]) ([5H8l)) - BIBEFTE - XA F
EEZAEENBEENTHN2EERENER
W REEREARAERNEBZEMNELY
A B DA K gt 7 BRI B AR S A
BILRER  BREZOKSRKRIESHE
AN o

AEEERSEERHBEARRMAA
HEz#E  YERB2EEFNRETAR
ANERDZEE  EARRREBRRE

BEH -

)

[l::3
B

K

RIFFE > AR RN ZRBEETFER
ATNEBEzZ&ERE  (\RBRERLAH
B P2 B R P AN AR A 2 W
B (IEXBRERLABIABEEXA
B Pz BERATSIA R R 2 F I
M« R(i)ANAFBRDRERER L A5
ZHE -

RIEET & R AN B ) B B AR 5T 81 AT
B2 BBRIERITEMAIERITZARD
AR B E - & £ T 15 38144,000,000
BRAR TR - BIRARLERT 8B AR AR
EEITROEHRZ10% -  BRIEATHRES
B BERITE - DA R ERER D
HHARRE T+ F B MEITHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant under the Scheme in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess of
the 1% limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. The Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years from 12 January 2009.

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000
share options to its directors, employees and other
grantees at an exercise price of HK$0.27 per share. The
share options granted will be exercisable from 15 April
2011 to 14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive). Particulars of
the share options granted under the Scheme were set forth
in the announcement and the circular of the Company
dated 15 April 2011 and 30 May 2011 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, mandatory
unconditional cash offers were made by China Lead
to cancel all outstanding share options granted by
the Company (the “Option Offer”) pursuant to the
Scheme. Since no valid acceptance under the Option
Offer was received at the closure date for acceptance
of the Option Offer, all outstanding share options not
exercised or cancelled under the Option Offer have lapsed
automatically pursuant to the Scheme.
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26. B ERTEI(A)

EA—22EREESRBLSNEN T @
ABEITERE S DR E REREBR
RETEMEBETRERTTER2EE
ZEREBRNEH  NMEEBARREET
BB Z1% - EE— TR TFHEB1%
FRZBREMARBRRARNE D BRI
o MBS REREBREALTARER
R HENKEBE-_ZTTNAFE-RA+TZHE
AT EREARARR -

R-ZE——FWOA+HEB ARAIRAHE
= - B8 RHAMAR A 144,000,000
NEEHE - ITEER/RBR0.27TETT © A
HEREIRN _Z——FHATHRBEEC
E_—FNAtOBE(BREREMA) ILH
BATTE - BRREASRL ZBERERF
BEHRARBRBRAD ST ——FN
AthBR-F——FAA=THZRE

RBEE_FT_FTFT_A=+—HLF
B REERRHIMEEGGRS BT
WADARBEREIREZ B HARITER
P ((BREEN]) - ANBREZORN
PR R R AE L A EIY A R
RIS - FAAERRBEREZQET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The following table discloses the movements in share
options during the year:

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

26. IBIRESTEI(E)
TR BEE BRI 2

Number of share options

BREHR

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
1 January during during during 31 December
2020 the year the year the year 2020
R=ZBZ%F R=B=%F
-A-H +ZA=t-8H
Grantee AERA HATE  ERERHE ERETE  FREAN i RTHE
Director B 581,802 = = (581,302) =
Other grantees in aggregate &R A5t 318,606 = = (318,606) =
900,408 - - (900,408) -

Exercisableattheendof ~ RIREHKA F1TE
the reporting period -

Weighted average MEFATERE

exercise price HK$9.7487% T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. XRBZ M BARRTRRFEEE
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) &NARZBMBEMRRFT
Company
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B MR 17 1,018
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE = 2,733
Intangible asset | AE 2,565 1,215
Interests in subsidiaries S NG £ 10 10
2,592 4976
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments AR 453 460
Other receivables H b B WBR 5K 5 5
Deposits paid BffiEe 772 1,059
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG /S 205,683 266,702
Cash and cash equivalents BeNMBeEEER 1,478 1,266
208,391 269,492
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FERTER R R EA
FETBRER 714 632
Other financial liability Hiir B asE
— non-convertible bond - PRI ERE S 10,000 9,973
Lease liabilities HEBE = 2,874
10,714 13,479
Net current assets RBEEFE 197,677 256,013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27.

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(a) Statement of financial position of the
Company (Continued)

?I#Ki%\‘ﬂ ZHBRARREEEE

(a) ARQFZMBAMRR T E)

2021 2020
—B-—F —TE-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET

Total assets less current liability #EERBRBEE 200,269 260,989
Net assets EEFRE 200,269 260,989
EQUITY EE
Capital and reserves attributable 72 F)HEE ABEREAR
to owners of the Company f#1E
Share capital % 72 7,003 7,003
Reserves f#fE 193,266 253,986
Total equity R 200,269 260,989

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 31 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mung Kin Keung
@R
Director

EZE

BERRBEFERN _T__F=
A=+ —BHAERRE T B A
TATHRREFEERE

Mung Bun Man, Alan
EmX
Director

EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. ARTRI 2B MRRAKR R EHEEH
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (48)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(b) Movement of reserve of the Company (b) KRFIZREERE

Share Capital
Share Contribution option contribution Accumulated
premium surplus  reserve reserve losses Total
R aE  EHRH BRERE TERE ZitER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TAL TEL TEL TEr  TEr
(Notea) ~ (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Wiita)  (With) (Witc)
|
At 1 January 2020 2
—A—H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (665,876) 274,666

Loss and total comprehensive ~ EE B K
loss for the year 2EFRESR - - = = (20,680)  (20,680)
Lapse of share options BRERN = = (2,665) = 2,665 =

At31December2020andat ~ R-Z-ZF

1 January 2021 +ZA=Z+-Ak
RZTZ-%
—A—H 146,099 646,448 - 45,330 (683,891) 253,986
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEEE K
loss for the year g}y =kt - - - - (60,7200 (60,720)
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-%
+=A=+-H 146,099 646,448 - 45,330 (644,611) 193,266
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company
(Continued)
Notes:
(@  The contributed surplus of the Company brought

forward represents the amount transferred from the
share premium due to the share premium reduction
effective on 23 November 2015 and various capital
reduction subsequently. Under the Bermuda
Companies Act, the contributed surplus is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot make a
distribution out of the contributed surplus if: () it is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its
assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of
services estimated to be received in exchange for the
grant of the relevant share option over the relevant
vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair
value of the share option at grant date. The amount for
each period is determined by spreading the fair value of
the share option over the relevant vesting period (if any)
and is recognised as staff costs and related expenses
with a corresponding increase in the share option
reserve.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung, a
director and substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Company from suffering loss of
deposits paid for investments in prior years, and fulfilled
his responsibility as a personal guarantee and settled all
outstanding balance of deposits paid for investments.

HiaE

(@)

27. ARR M BRR KRR F RSB

(b) AR ZHESE (R

ARE 2 AR BEHABRERRKROD &E
BARZE—RAF+—A=Z+=H4%
BmERE RN EEZ RAREERES
HERER - BEERE/GE &
BEBIHEDIK - AT XRRTE
AETIERATEEZBBIEL DI :
(VRERN B AREEREIHEE
S(WEEECERERESIONES

& -

BRERRBERLABBRER A
AREERBHERNRE 2R
NFE - HEEDAREE A RS
Bz N ERFERE - BESR
HHzewE  AESAEBREZR
FERAREERE A A8 D5
B WERS TARARERFAE
R WHEREERERS -

TERBEARFEERIZRER
EECNBEFERREZCNES
EEZBRERRARMELRHE - X7
REZENREBITEERBEAER
ZEERINAERERLEER

202158 | RRABREARDA

157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. ERHEALRS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed BRZESREUEREREMBOBE R
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, S RERIN - REEEBEEA TR
the Group had the following significant transactions and BRR G REEH

balances with related parties:

() Material transactions with related parties: (i) EREFEALTZEARS :
2021 2020
=B - _ZT_ZTF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FET FHEIT
Advisory fee paid/payable to a B EA e (@)
related company NAZBAE - 150
Commission and other handling B — R E (@)
charge paid/payable to a related rElZ e REM
company FESB 29 4
Interest expenses on lease liabilites A+, B EEAE 2 (@)
paid/payable to related companies & & & 2 X 60 245
Managerial and administrative B e — R E (@)
service income received/ DR ZERRITH
receivable from a related company  ARTE U S = 35
Expense relating to short-term HEENRREER (@)
leases to related companies e b3 554 =
Note: (a)  The directors of the Company, Mr. Mung and Mr. Wit (8 ARABIEFREEREMX
Mung Bun Man, Alan, have beneficial interests in EERBERRHEERE
the related companies up to 20 May 2021. Mr. = BEEZTE-—FHAC
Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, are also the THIE - RZFEZ—FE=
directors of GMHL as at and for the years ended TZEF+ZA=+—HH
31 December 2021 and 2020. LBEZMBLEFE it
ERERXEETBERK
HMIES o
In October 2021, the Group entered into a one- NZEBE-—F+H AKXEEBE
year lease in respect of office premises from related NAOMWAESETT T —FHL -
companies. The amount of rent payable by the BERBOANEEENTES Y AT A
Group under the lease is approximately HK$217,000 217,000/ 7T ©
per month.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. ERBEALRG (B)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(i) Balances with related parties: (i) EEREALTZ&RR:
2021 2020
—B=-—F —ETFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FATT
Rental deposit paid to related BENEEQARZEE
companies oA 756 1,042
Amount due from a related company &4 — & B8 E A &) 708 = 51
Lease liabilities to related companies B:E A RIAEEE — 2,874
(i) Compensation of key management (i) TEEBAEZHHMEHE
personnel remuneration
Compensation for key management personnel, FEERBABZHESEENEAA
including amount paid to the Company’s directors, AIES - FBETHRABRETES
chief executive and certain of the highest paid HiE S (ERE B mRMEE11FT
employees, as disclosed in note 11 to the WER) 2EBMAT :

consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

2021 2020
—E—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Salaries, bonus and other e AR EMER
allowances 8,787 6,294
Retirement benefit scheme RIREEFIET B3R
contributions 54 44
8,841 6,338
The remuneration of directors, chief executive officer BEE THBRENMETEZEEBEABZ
and key management personnel is determined by e BFMEEeREBEEAARR
the remuneration committee having regard to the N8R ETE -

performance of individuals and market trends.

202158 | BRABREARAA

159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 29. EREFIFTE

The Group operates MPF Scheme under rules and
regulations of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all employees employed in Hong Kong.
The Group has chosen to follow the minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
monthly relevant income but limited to the mandatory cap
of HK$30,000. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as incurred. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held

AREBERERVWELRTBEFENEIN 2R
AMRPISEMAEERERLLERES
it AREEEEETREEEHRR
BE BEEREESABEHENRAZL%
K - EE ARA LR AETE 230,000/8
T HRREERNIBEANEG - RES
AR CEERARECEENRATA - I
H—EBEERESHEA

separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrative fund.
MEXRELEZEEBZHE

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash - BREASIEREEEH - REXBE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing A7 RAREARERECHKARRERRE
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future BRAEBGERERERIBEARMESRE
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated BEEZHSRECAE -

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

30.

activities.

Other

financial

Margin liability-

Interest loan from non-

payable securities Leases convertible
broker liabilities bond Total

Hity

EHLR MBEE-
FEATRIE RREX HERRE TUERES Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TAT TER

At 1 January 2020 R-E-_ZF—H—H 143 - 6,355 9,936 16,434
Financing cash flows BERTRE (200) 27,960 (3,726) = 24,034
Non-cash changes FREEH
Interest expenses ERRMERZ (#:28)
recognised (note 8) 200 197 245 37 679
At 31 December 2020and R-ZT-Tf
at 1 January 2021 +ZA=+—-Bk
R-E-—%—HA—H 143 28,157 2,874 9,973 41,147
Financing cash flows BERERE (200) (3,582) (2,934) = (6,716)
Non-cash changes FREeEY
Interest expenses ERRNEF (#:28)
recognised (note 8) 200 701 60 27 988
At31December2021 R-B=-%
+=B=t+-H 143 25,276 - 10,000 35,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment activities.
Financial risks include market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by key management under the policies approved
by the board of directors. The Group does not have
written risk management policies. However, the board
of directors meet regularly and co-operate closely with
key management to identify and evaluate risks and to
formulate strategies to manage financial risks. The Group
has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes and has not held or issued derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The most
significant risks to which the Group is exposed to are
described below.

31.1 Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
financial instruments mainly consisted of other
receivables, deposit paid, amount due from a related
company, financial assets at FVTPL, cash and cash
equivalents, accruals and other payables, lease
liabilities and other financial liability — non-convertible
bond.

31.

BHEREER A VETE

AEERARERELERBERRETHER
BRPREAVEIAMARSEVBER
Bz o BF 75 R f ﬁ%m%ﬁW(@%ﬂ%@
&%%H %) - EER H i EER

RKns& <Rk O$EIZ%%HmE
ﬁﬁiiﬂm%zTTﬁﬁﬁ RIE=PS
HARENBRAZBETINZEREZ&

K-RRERHTIB2ERABREESTS
BB BEET - ARBEYEEERARE
BRE A EFSTHERIZEEA

EAFERMERETIAE - UBHl Rk
AT A LR A K% Il 7T 8 TR B 7S L B o R
AEEYEERTAITETARKEMTA
RSP A E MU ESAXBITITEMB
TRAEEERRZ - ARBEMEHZKEER
VBRI N SRS A o

M1 MBEERMBERZER

RBERR AEBECHBIAEE
ERREMEWRER  BEfF&ES -
FEY —EEEARIIE - BiRER
RURATFEIEZHBEE - Be
KBReEEIER « BitRAKEREM
FERERR - HEABUREMU K
BfE - T EBRES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.1 Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position relate
to the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities:

31.

BEEREER AN FENEGE)

1M BEERMBRE 2 ER (&)

RAEBZEEMBERRAREN 2
REEENTMBEERYBAE
HBRIER

2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHEIT
-
Financial assets MEEE
Amortised cost B SH R R
Other receivables B e B BR 3R 232 2,027
Deposits paid BEff&e 772 1,060
Amount due from a related &Y — IR E A 5] 5k I8
company - 51
Cash and cash equivalents B RIRESFEIERE 2,371 2,681
FVTPL FiREERAATETER
Financial assets at FVTPL FRBEEAATE
SRR A B B 238,818 299,630
242,193 305,449
Financial liabilities MKaE
Amortised cost B
Accruals and other payables JE 51 AR R % B B A AR
= 25,905 28,788
Other financial liability HthB B aE
- non-convertible bond - PRIERES 10,000 9,973
Lease liabilities HERE - 2,874
35,905 41,635
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. R REERAFETEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.2 Market risk 31.2 miZEE

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and
variable-rate margin loan from securities broker.
The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
the margin loan from securities broker. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The Group has not used any financial instrument to
hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease in variable-rate margin loan from securities
broker is used. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the management considers
that the exposure of cash flow interest rate
risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

T 7 B2

MEmEETDEFBIAZ A FERK
ReRnEBEGRMBSMEEFHMELR
KE 2 R BRE

AEBAXBETRRITERIT
BREFRRARERZBAEREN
KRy - AEEZRERENKME
REBEFRBFRLEFRERLZ
MR B o AN EFEBRERNEK
FRATRFFGEMN RSB TES
LEBERZEEEEMNERRER - A&
36 R A PR AR B 75 T B ¥ &
ESE

BE DT

TXZERERED I IRBRE R
PSR zHERBREE - BB
THRBERHREHREREE 2B
TERBEFENDREEMRE
RAFEREFKLARER M X
EFRTRS0MEER - ANEIEE
RRFERBITERELNRERE
MERBRIYTEKR - FHLHERED
A ST ASRITABER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
31.2 Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, if interest rates of margin
loan from securities broker had been 50 basis point
higher/lower (2020: 50 basis point), with all other
variables remain constant, the post-tax loss for the
year ended 31 December 2021 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$106,000 (2020:
HK$118,000).

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk
in respect of HK$ against the US$ as long as this
currency is pegged.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currency. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The change in exchange rate against US$ has
not been considered in the following sensitivity
analysis as HK$ is pegged to US$. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Group does
not expect any significant movements between the
exchange rate of HK$ against US$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. R REERAFETEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.2 Market risk (Continued) 31.2 M5 Ak ()

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL. For equity and debt securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in relevant stock exchange, the
directors manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risks. In
addition, the Group also invested in certain equity
securities listed in relevant stock exchange without
quoted market price, unlisted equity and debt
securities for investees operating in different industry
sectors and unlisted investment funds which had
been classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

To manage its market price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance
with the limits set by the board of directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

At B mE b

AEBREREBERKRARTFE
AEZBARBEBRESZRERR
BERE - SARHBEESZX S
BEBBREURFEFEZRAE
REBEFME  EFBBAERA
TRARRNKEESEEZAR -
o REE TR ERE THEHER
BHRRGH LM 2 RAE S (ETHS
WE) KRR RTTERBEERBH
WIRE QB ETRAREBE
HFRIFLTREES(RFBFLE
TEDBREBEBREAQFED
RNUBEE)  AKREERETER
BRERERER  UHRBEFTE
I E B E R

REBRERERESL M ER
B ARESHHBRAES - HM
HEE A RREE TR
47 -

AREABEFEAR—ERTE

BEHMERRRZBEK  XR/Z
EHREK -
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.2 Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
end of the reporting period. Sensitivity analyses
for certain equity securities listed in relevant stock
exchange without quoted market price, unlisted
equity and debt securities and unlisted investment
funds with fair value measurement categorised
within Level 3 were disclosed in note 31.5 to the
consolidated financial statements. For sensitivity
analysis of equity and debt securities with fair
value measurement categorised within Level 1, the
sensitivity rate is 35% in 2021 (2020: 35%) as a
result of the volatile financial market.

If the prices of the respective equity and derivative
instruments had been 35% (2020: 35%) higher/
lower, the post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2021 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$56,490,000 (2020:
HK$71,856,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of listed equity and debt securities classified
as financial assets at FVTPL.
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31.2 i EkR (&)
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B RFEFEIEARE=ZREHZ
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WMEAMEAILSARE - RATEANE
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35%(ZF_FF : 35%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. R REERAFETEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
31.3 EE R KR E R

31.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to other receivables, deposits paid,
amount due from a related company and bank
balances. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The directors considered the credit risk of the
Group’s other receivables, deposit paid and amount
due from a related company are relatively low as
they have a low risk of default and the issuer has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

The Group deposited its bank balances with
approved and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or
insolvency of the banks may cause the Group’s right
with respect to bank balances held to be delayed or
limited. Management of the Company monitors the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis,
and considers that the Group’s exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020
were minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

RZEZ—FR-_FT-_FF+=A
=t+—HB ASEVEFEEHAK
ek B qth 18 T A DA e Y B H Bt
BEEMBzEERR -AEEZ
FEERBETENRE EMEIKENR -
BEftke « B —HEREEQRRE
RiR1T#HER - AEBERERFHFR
ERTEAMBEANEEEKT B
BRzZ&XEERR - VRBEHE
MBRAKMIZEEERMBE
EZIREE -

EE2RR AEEEMBRKER
ENZE REW—HEERQFRE
ZEERREEBRE  REASZF
RBEZENRRRKRE  BEITAB
MABENIIHBITEANRER
EEE-

REBGEBRITERTHRNERA
REZBRIFZRT - ZFRITH
EXENEBEXSERASER
PRFFIRTTAE B8R 2 RE A4 R 1B 2k XX B
Bal - ARAIEEESHELRZ
ERTZEETR  TREBAEE
RZEZ—F+ZRA=+—HEK
ZEEF+ AT —HFRAX
ZIEERBEM -

AEEYETMEMERKEFEE

Rk - 2EFEERBRNVEFEREE

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE =% —

==

—F+=A=+—RILEE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BREREERAFETEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.4 Liquidity risk 3.4 REBESER

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of accruals and
other payables, lease liabilities and other financial
liability-non-convertible bond and also in respect of
its cash flow management. The Group’s objective
is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets
and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered to have
been effective in managing liquidity risks.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay:

MBECEREAEBERERETT
RN R kB EETT &
B BAaBERBEEEZAREA
Bl AEEEBERRRLEM
EfNER HERBEREMMKA
& - FTABRESUAMNERSRE
BETEAIRBESRER - A&
B2z BEERKRBEERERE
THRBBEEKRFE - NneHEH
EEHRBESHTR -

AEBEBBRBEFEAR-—BEETR
HESHER  URSLZFTHRESE

ERPHESRBITEITZER

Ao RAKREZITENB A
EZRBANEHBER - ERES
MAMBRASRERAKB AN
RAZHFPEH

Weighted
average Total
effective Within contractual
interest  one year or Within More than  undiscounted Carrying
ratt ondemand  2-5years 5years cash flow amount
METH —-ERg ANRER
TS EZX —ZL%R BALEF RERBAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-B=-%
At 31 December 2021 t-B=1-H Thn TEn AR FhERL TEn
Non-derivative financial FiTEHBEE
liabilities:
Margin loan from securiies broker ~ EHELHE
EX 2.38 25,276 - = 25,276 25,276
Other accruals and other payables ~ E-fttE=tER 3T
A ERER - 629 - - 629 629
Other financial liabilty AE%ac
= non-convertible bond - REhES 243 10,067 - - 10,067 10,000
35,972 - - 35,972 35,905
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e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

31.

BEEREER AN FENEGE)

314 RBEERGE)

Weighted
average Total
effective Within contractual
interest one year or Within More than  undiscounted Carrying
rate on demand 2-5 years 5years cash flow amount
IET —ER3 LN
BRI EEX ZZERFA BALE RENEHE KEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i 3
At 31 December 2020 +-A=+-A TR AL AL AL AL
Non-derivative financial liabilties: FITEHBER:
Accruals and other payables TR R A A
EREH
Margin loan from securities broker ~ EHELHE
&R 2.37 28,157 - - 28,157 28,157
Other accruals and other payables B ERZR
EERER - 631 - - 631 631
Lease liablfies HERRE 513 2,934 - - 2,934 2874
Other financial liabilty Hipatias
= non-convertible bond - F kS 243 10,067 - - 10,067 9,973
41,789 - - 41,789 41,635

The Group considers expected cash flows from
financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity
risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group’s
existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

AEERFEMEERDESER
REBRYBEECRFRESRE
HARREERMRBEDELER S Z
HMRBEE - AKBEZHERE
BEREREMRBHEERERBLAS
M EIARTE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BEAKREERATFETEGE)

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial instruments 315 IR THEHZAFE
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are AEFZEEREL N FEGTEZHY
measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEZLFHE
The following table presents the fair value of the THREINREBRBERARKLEE
Group’s financial assets measured at the end of the BEEFAEZUVBEEZATE B
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised DRB AN BREEAFEI1ZHRATF
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined BiEMATIBER=-ERATEE
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level B ATEFESHEZERITIER
into which a fair value measurement is classified HMERN2ZH ABBE 2 IEBER S
is determined with reference to the observability FEEMHETHOT :

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using o
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date;

° Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using °
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
input for which market data are not available;
and

° Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using °
significant unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

At 31 December 2021

31. IREREERAFLESEFE)

315 M TR AFEGE)

Level 1

F-ER
HK$'000

TR

Level 2 Level 3 Total
EZER E=ER st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TET TET TET

Fair value on a recurring
basis

Financial assets at FVTPL

REREENEY

ATE

BBBRRRUARTE

SR B EE

- listed derivative financial - FHHTAREI A
instruments 648 - = 648
- listed equity securities - ETRAES 192,644 — - 192,644

- unlisted equity and debt - FEETRARER
securities Foba = = 37,005 37,005
- unlisted investment funds ~ —JF LR EES = = 8,521 8,521
193,292 - 45,526 238,818
R-T-TF Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2020 +-A=+-H E—ER FER F=ER FeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT BT FEL FEL

Fair value on a recurring basis & EEEHE 7

NEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BBRBEREANTE
BIBR 2 BITS B EE

- listed equity and debt - ETRARES

securities B 245,872 = = 245,872
- unlisted equity and debt ~ — FELETRARER

securities Eoln - = 24,180 24,180
- unlisted investment funds ~ —JE LR EES = = 29,578 29,578
045,872 - 53,758 299,630
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

The majority of listed equity and debt securities
are denominated in HK$ and US$. Fair values
have been determined by reference to their quoted
market closing prices at the end of the reporting
period and have been translated using the spot
foreign currency rates at the end of the reporting
period where appropriate.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation. The management works closely with
the independent qualified valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to
the directors at the end of each reporting period to
explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. BEEREERAFLEFEHE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5 Fair value of financial instruments 315 BT EZAFEGE)
(Continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and REBEE_ZTE-_—FK= 55 -z

TZA=+t—BLFE F-B&
&%:@%&ZF‘E‘M\E%%% BB A
FEHE=ER -

2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

BHE=RAFETBZEH

Information about Level 3 fair value

measurements
Relation of significant
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs
techniques unobservable input to fair value
EATTEERAZE
RER EATTEERAE HAVEZBE

At 31 December 2021
R-ZZE--f+-A=1+-H

Unlisted equity and Market approach and P/S multiples The P/S multiples is

debt securities

FELEMBRAREBES

share value allocation
model

iaERRHEEDER
gl

ranging from 2.5 0 6.3
MR EERNF2526.3

Marketability of discount
rate of 20.6%
% mE 83 %20.6%

positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of
the unlisted equity
securities
MHEEHERE i
RAERZATE
FTEZIEIEH

The discount rate is
negatively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted equity
securities

ARIR R 3 PR
FHLDNTEFE
E=piil
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Valuation

techniques

EER M
Unlisted investment funds Net asset value
FLmEEES BEFE
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31.

BEEREER AN FENEGE)

315 MK TR AFEGE)

BEHE=RAFETBZEH (H)

Significant
unobservable input

Relation of significant
unobservable inputs
to fair value

EXATURRRABE

EXTTRRGANE ROVEZBE

Expected volatility of
54.0% t0 68.9% to
the fair value

BEKIB54.0%%
68.9%

Net asset value

EERE

The expected volatility
is positively correlated
measurement of the
unlisted equity
securities

TR R B 3E F AR
BrLNTEFE
EEl

The net asset value is
positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted investment
funds

BEFERFLHRE
HEeZAYEAE
BNl



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. BEEREERAFLEFEHE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5 Fair value of financial instruments 315 BT EZAFEGE)
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value EEFEF=ZARNFETEZEHL (E)

measurements (Continued)

Relation of significant
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs
techniques unobservable input to fair value

EATUERRAYE
HERN EATUBERASE HATEZBR

At 31 December 2020
RZE-TE+-A=1+—A

Unlisted equity and Market approach and P/E multiples of 30.7 The P/E multiples is
debt securities share value allocation & {5 £30.7 positively correlated
FEMRAREREH model to the fair value
mmERRHDEENE measurement of
ot the unlisted equity
securities
MAXEYEE LT
BAESH . AYE
FTEEIEEE

P/S multiples of 4.8 The P/S multiples is

ik EH4.8 positively correlated to
the fair value
measurement of
the unlisted equity
securities

[if:ESE ES

BAEZH A TE
SEZEHEE

202158 | BRABREEBRAT 175



176

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Valuation
techniques

fhE B
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. BEERBEER A VEFEGE)

315 MK TR AFEGE)

BEHE=RAFETBZEH (H)

Significant
unobservable input

EXTTREGAUE

Marketability of discount
rate of 20.6%

[k pofJjedipick:e
20.6%

Expected volatility of
59.6% to 76.0%

TEHKIE59.6%%
76.0%

Relation of significant
unobservable inputs
to fair value
EXATTEERAYE
AAVECRE

The discount rate is
negatively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted equity
securities

AR R 3 PR
FHCATENE
=Pl

The expected volatility is
positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted equity
securities

TR 5 B 3E Em R
FHNTEFE
EN2iil



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATE

D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

Valuation

techniques

EER M
Unlisted investment funds Net asset value
FLEmBEEES BEFE

Information about the valuation techniques used in
determining the fair value of the suspended trading
securities, unlisted equity and debt securities and
unlisted investment funds are disclosed above.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the
events or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

3. BERBEER N FEFEGE)

315 M TR AFEGE)

BEHE=RAFETBZEH (H)

Relation of significant
Significant unobservable inputs
unobservable input to fair value

EATUERRAYE
EXTUBERASE HATEZBR

Net asset value The net asset value is

BESE positively correlated
to the fair value
measurement of the
unlisted investment
funds

BEFERFLHRE

HeAYEAE
2

ERETEFRESRES  FLMERARE
BEFMIELTREES Z A FEMER
ZfAERM 2 ER TN EXRE -

AEBZBRBERBEERER 2 EM
FENEEAR L AT EER cEARE
4o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E—ZE-—F+_A=+—HIFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BREREERAFETEGE)
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
31.5 Fair value of financial instruments 315 BT EZAFREGEE)
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

The following table presents the changes in fair
value of financial assets which are classified as Level
3 fair value hierarchy:

BEHE=RAFETBZEH (H)

TEEINEAE=RAFEER
PHBEEZATERD

HK$’000
FAETT
-1
At 1 January 2020 WR_ZE_TF—H—H 64,607
Investment in unlisted equity and debt FLETMRAREBREFKRE
securities 2,340
Disposal of unlisted equity securities HEIEETIRAES (22,730)
Gain arising in change in fair value of FHiRBEEERARNFEERZ 5
financial assets at FVTPL, net BEANTEEHEL ZWHFE 9,541

At 31 December 2020 and at 1 January 2021 W—ZE-ZTF+-_A=+—HBF

WR-ZE_—F—H—H 53,758
Investment in unlisted equity and FELETMBRARBEBREBELFIEE
debt securities 11,218
Disposal of unlisted equity securities HEIE FMRAFES (3,172)
Loss arising in change in fair value of financial & B85 8RIA R F (AT 2 B 75
assets at FVTPL, net BEANTFEEYELE CHEFE (16,278)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—-F+=-HA=+—H 45,526

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair value at 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure
and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the
future capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and
projected capital expenditures and projected strategic
investment opportunities. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue of new
shares or redemption of existing shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which includes lease liabilities, margin loan from securities
broker and other financial liability — non-convertible bond)
and total equity.

32. EXEE

AEBERAERZ AERERASEES
BREINFBEREZE  URRBERRER
FEAE O

7o R S R ER B R B IR L A
o B EAERRREDR b
RAEEEE AR KREREE - BAT
RIEH AR Y RIEH AR AR o &
£ (51, 208 SERK BUAE A (RIS TR o

RERLFHBERRE  AEEAERE
XN TFERRZBEEE MRREDE
R BITHBROIBEORABRMDIEESR
ENFERIE -

REBHBAEETINBEINZ ERBRE ©

AEEZEARBEREBFR(HEEE
E8E  BEFELAREFRNEMHEE
B - TRIERES) MBS ARRAEN o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 32. EXEE(A)

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are

RERRZEERBLLERMAT

as follows:
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Total debts (note) B4 %E (I 5F) 35,276 41,004
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReERREEEER (2,371) (2,681)
Net debt BRI FEE 32,905 38,323
Total equity k] 214,213 278,243
Net debt to equity ratio B PR s = 15.4% 13.8%
Total debt to equity ratio (EVLF Ry Ty n S 16.5% 14.7%

Note: Total debts comprises lease liabilities, margin loan from
securities broker and other financial liability — non-convertible
bond.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

33. INVESTMENT

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5% of the Group’s
gross assets and at least 10 largest investments at 31
December 2021 and 2020 respectively as follows:

At 31 December 2021

33. ®E&E

B FHABFE21 128 B IHE - &K
EBEDREER T -_—FR_FT_TF
+-—A=+—HmEEERALEEEE
BESHZIEEARRVI0BERAREZ
IR -

R=F=-—-%+=-A=+—-H

Market value/
Percentage Net assets fair value
of equity  attributable at 31
interest to the Cost of December Dividend
held Company investment 2021 received
RZB--f
FiBERA  ADRER . TZA=t-H
BEEAL EERE RERE 2HfE/ATE BHRE
Name of investments Notes % HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
REA® o TER TER TAR TER
Listed equity securities in ERLTRAREEES
Hong Kong
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MEEEEBERERAR (8) below 0.01 14,411 53,612 27,228 =
1140.01
Ausnutria Dairy Corporation Ltd. BREAEBROERAA (b) 0.04 2,949 8,171 7,088 203
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited (© 2.91 17,934 44,597 78,326 -
TR EBERB AR
Frontier Senvices Group Limited GEREEEERAR (@) 0.4 2,086 9,597 6,004 =
Huayi Tencent Entertainment EARNREER DA €] 0.29 2,206 16,068 8,278 -
Company Limited
Logan Group Company Limited EXEEERAA ) 0.02 14,628 11,129 5,698 1,061
Tencent Holdings Limited BAERBR AR ©@ below 0.01 3,816 17,597 15,531 -
{£740.01
Times China Holdings Limited BRPEERERAR ) 0.07 38,844 16,541 5,538 1,128
Unlisted equity securities outside F&M M2 EHRAE S
Hong Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc.
- Preferred shares -k 0) N/A N/A 11,700 21,692 =
TER TER
Unlisted investment funds BB ZELTREES
outside Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
= Fund Series 3T SP = Fund Series 3T SP [0} N/A N/A 7,800 5,600 -
TEA TER
196,812 180,983

© EHES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;

E-T-_—H+-_A=t+—HItEE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2020

33. RE(#&)

RZE_ZEF+_A=+—H

Market value/
Percentage Net assets fair value
of equity attributable at 31
interest tothe Cost of December Dividend
held Company investment 2020 received
RZIZ_ZE
FsERE  ARAERG +ZA=+-H
BRasl BEFE BEKAR zmiE/ YA BKRE
Name of investments % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REAR FAT FAT FAT FAT
Listed equity and debt securities ERETRARERES
in Hong Kong
Alibaba Group Holding Limited MEBESEERBR AR below 0.01 10,155 42,337 39,775 401
1£30.01
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited 2.91 19,593 44,597 29,440 -
MR EEEERAR
Kaisa Group Holdings Limited EREEEERERAF 0.10 27,273 22,021 22,585 1,230
China SCE Group Holdings Limited RESEEREBAE 0.14 49,212 20,570 18,618 397
China Aoyuan Group Limited HEREEERNER AR 0.07 44,148 14,208 13,964 =
Times China Holdings Limited BRABEERBRAE 0.08 34,412 18,428 16,903 =
Listed equity securities outside BERUMNZ LHRARSF
Hong Kong
So-Young International Inc. So-Young International Inc. 0.22 6,815 16,839 15,607 -
Bilibil Inc. RIERERHERAR below 0.01 503 5,780 12,938 -
{E30.01
Unlisted equity securities outside BB EEHRAES
Hong Kong
Oddup Inc. Oddup Inc. N/A N/A
- Preference shares - ik TEHA TR 11,700 8,629 =
Unlisted investment funds EBUMZELHREES
outside Hong Kong
Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio Click Ventures Segregated
Company Portfolio Company N/A N/A
= Fund Series 3T SP - Fund Series 3T SP TiEH TiEH 7,800 20,465 -
204,280 198,924
* EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR EmR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—T——F+ - A=+—HILFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Alibaba Group Holding Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 09988) and on the New York Stock
Exchange (the “NYSE”) (symbol: BABA). Alibaba Group
Holding Limited is principally engaged in core commerce,
cloud computing, digital media and entertainment and
innovation initiatives and others.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2021, the
unaudited consolidated profit attributable to the owners of
the company was approximately RMB71,102,000,000 and
its unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB1,109,546,000,000.

Ausnutria Dairy Corporation Ltd was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 01717). Ausnutria Dairy Corporation
Ltd is principally engaged in the research and development,
production, marketing and distribution of dairy and related
products and nutrition products to its worldwide customers,
particularly in the People’s Republic of China.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the parent
of the company was approximately RMB1,040,262,000
and its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB5,493,647,000.

Brockman Mining Limited was incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00159). Brockman Mining Limited is principally engaged in
the acquisition, exploration and development of iron ore in
Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2021, the unaudited
consolidated income attributable to the equity holders
of the company was approximately HK$22,898,000 and
its unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
HK$616,162,000.

Frontier Services Group Limited was incorporated in the
Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00500). Frontier Services Group Limited is
principally engaged in the provision of aviation, logistics,
security, insurance and infrastructure related services and the
provision of online financial market information.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$159,699,000 and its audited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$505,150,000.

33. RE(#&)

Hrat

(@)

*

f £ B B & @i Hxﬁﬁﬁx RESESH
fil Al ST K E R D ?&Fﬁim(ﬂ%ﬁﬁ% :
09988)&?%&27*“ * XS FT((RE]) W
(B AD 5% : BABA) ° ETEEE‘ilT (&=
RABEEREZOLBE  ZEE - 8T
IS T IR\ N BT TS SE -

HE_Z-_—F+-_A=Z=+—HLtnN
A ZARHEEABMEREEZE
AR ABH ARBET1,102,000,0007T &
HAKCERGREEFEANDARE
1,109,546,000,0007T °

—

REIIEBRMERAAINRFASHEESFM
Ekixzﬁﬁxﬂﬁw iﬁﬁtm(ﬂx@ﬁf
01717) - BEILERHER AT EENKS
IERKEEERREEERAFE &
HoHERAtASHMLEEFR)EFE
TEHEEDHE -

été_g:—iJr* BA=1+—BL&EE "
ZARHARHEE ABGEEEZEAET
Biﬁ/\ﬁmm 040,262,0007T K H &£ = % 47
AEEFEANHARES,493,647,0007T °

Brockman Mining Limited#i 352 S IEE G R
NEVR B RE AL I B AR FBSE X A
(AR © 00159) ° Brockman Mining
Limited e BIEEBR AR T EFRVEKR
PR EUWE - DR RAREER o

BHE-_Z-_—F+=-_A=+—H1LA~HE
A ZAREREEABGREEZEZA
WA B #922,898,0008 7T &k B R G BIZAEE
A EFE A4616,162,00078 7T ©

TERBEEERARNEREFTMRK
ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁfﬁf%ﬁéﬁ“ﬁﬁim(Hﬂﬁﬁﬁ 3
005oo> c UK EBEBRARETERSE
YR RE - REREEEBRE
&}Et\mﬂﬂ«ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

BE-_E-_—F+-A=+—RHILEE -
ZARERRAEARGEERGEERA

#7159,699,000% 7T k & BiZir 6 B EF
B A #7505,150,0007 7T

(EXE %l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRM

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZE =T =—F+=-A=+—HILFE

33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

C

Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00419). Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Company Limited is principally engaged in
(i) entertainment and media business; and (ii) provision of
healthcare and wellness services.

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately HK$7,190,000 and its unaudited
consolidated net assets was approximately HK$773,338,000.

Logan Group Company Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 03380). Logan Group Company
Limited is principally engaged in property development,
property investment, construction and decoration and urban
redevelopment business in the People’s Republic of China or
“Mainland China”.

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the
parent was approximately RMB6,181,928,000 and its
unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB70,775,613,000.

Tencent Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00700). Tencent Holdings Limited is principally engaged
in the provision of VAS, Online Advertising services and
FinTech and Business Services.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the equity holders of the
company was approximately RMB224,822,000,000 and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB876,693,000,000.
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Wit < (4)

©)

EHBEARELERAIRHSHEFM
RS R EL RS D B R B £ (AR D AR 5R
00419) - FEEBEMBRLEBR A EEHEH()
IREE T R R R TS ¢ AR (IR R R E AR
}% °

BHE-_Z-—XA=1+BIL~NEAA &
ARG BEARLRECEZERABER
#97,190,0008 TR H R EEBZL B EEF
B A #773,338,000/ 7T ©
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33. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(h

Times China Holdings Limited was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01233). Times China Holdings Limited is mainly involved
in property development, urban redevelopment business and
property leasing in the People’s Republic of China.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB3,260,190,000 and
its audited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB42,654,812,000.

Oddup Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America
and is principally engaged in operating a research platform
that provides analytical information on startups, their trends,
and both current and expected future valuations.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the unaudited profit
attributable to the owners of the company was approximately
US$2,951,874 and its unaudited net assets was approximately
US$17,641,000.

Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in the British Virgin Islands. Fund Series 3T SP
is principally invested in start-ups at the seed to series A stage
in Hong Kong and internationally.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the unaudited net
assets attributable to holders was approximately US$790,000.
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. B R BIF1E
The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company TRITEETRAETEZERAEEEEL
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected BEZARNRMBAR - EFERA - BH
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other B AR FBIIEEERFRBRIT
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, results Ko

in particulars of excessive length.

Proportion of
Issuedand  ownership interest
Country/place of Type of legal fully paid  and voting power held  Principal activities and
Name of subsidiary incorporation entity share capital by the Company place of operations
A BRITR RAFMEEN
WEARAR BX/ EEERER BRRE  BEEERREELH FEERRCEBEY
Directly Indirectly
Ef G853
1]
Mega way International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 100% = Investment holding in
company Hong Kong
BRERERAF &R ERELEAR 10,0007 7T REBRERR
Sky Champion Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
company Hong Kong
JEERAT &k BREELR 18T REBRERR
White Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
company Hong Kong
BNERARAT B BREEAR 18T REBRERR
None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding RIRE R KFREMER - B R R
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the EAEMEREECEBHBES

year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group had no material events for disclosure
subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31
March 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t-HLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Tt TN\ —T-NF _T_TF ZB=-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET FET THET

Results ES

Revenue g 3,409 3,461 6,028 6,037 6,538
Profit/(loss) before income tax BETERANER]/ (B8) 26,468 (141,223) (91,295) (18,792) (64,030)
Income tax expense FBRES - - - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEAN/ (B1) 26,468 (141,223) (91,295) (18,792) (64,030)

At 31 December

R+=A=t+—-8
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Tt TN\ —T-NF _T_TF ZB--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET AT TET TET

Total assets BEE 545,474 419,730 339,538 319,878 250,118
Total liabilities BERSE (26,256) (31,405) (42,507) (41,635) (35,905)
Net assets BEFE 519,218 388,325 297,031 278,243 214,213
Total equity BmEE 519,218 388,325 297,031 278,243 214,213
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